zafing ERASMUS UNIVERSITEIT ROTTERDAM

ERASMUS UNIVERSITY ROTTERDAM

Erasmus School of Economics

Master Thesis: Data Science and Marketing Analytics

Walk the talk in sustainable consumption

Characteristics of young consumers who adopt sustainable behaviours

Name student: Noëlle Lageweg Student ID number: 428138

Supervisor: Prof. dr. Martijn G. de Jong Second assessor: dr. Andreas Alfons

Date: 06/07/2020

The views stated in this thesis are those of the author and not necessarily those of the supervisor, second assessor, Erasmus School of Economics or Erasmus University Rotterdam

Abstract

Climate change is a serious problem that threatens the quality of life of our future generations. As consumer behaviour is largely related to the human impact on climate change, this study aims to discover what type of consumers from young generations choose to adopt sustainable alternatives. For this study, we build on an existing web-based survey with responses from 10.900 youngsters originating from 44 countries, supplemented with country-related data. Using a cumulative logit model with a country fixed effect we investigate the relationship between individual- and country-level characteristics and sustainable consumption. Our findings show that lower levels of risk aversion, the experience and expectation of extreme weather events, cognitive ability and the extent to which youngsters receive information from their parents on the topic all enhance the probability to adopt sustainable behaviours. On the country-level, we find that youngsters from wealthier countries are more likely to adopt sustainable behaviours whereas higher life expectancy, as well as government expenditure on education, have a negative effect. No clear evidence is therefore obtained with which we can state that either people from developing or developed countries adopt more sustainable practices. The fixed effect parameter indicates that culture is also likely to influence the level of sustainable consumption. This research shows that sustainable consumption can be stimulated by providing information that is easy to understand, visualized and lowers the perceived risk. Parents could be targeted to spread this information as they appear to be an effective medium.

Keywords: Sustainable consumption, pro-environmentalism, consumer behaviour, attitude-behaviour gap, cumulative link model

Table of contents

1. Introduction	5
1.1 The challenge of creating awareness	5
1.2 The focus on younger generations	6
1.3 Academic relevance	6
1.4 Research specifications	7
2. Conceptual framework and literature	9
2.1 Conceptual Framework	9
2.1.1 Derivation of concepts	9
2.1.2 Framework	9
2.2 Literature review	9
2.2.1 Human behavioural bias	10
2.2.2 Problem tangibility	11
2.2.3 Habit formation	12
2.2.4 Social influence	12
2.2.5 Cognitive abilities	13
2.2.6 Economic state	14
2.2.7 Country-related differences	14
2.3 Fixed effects and control variables	15
2.3.1 Fixed effects	15
2.3.2 Control variables	15
3. Data description	16
3.1 Survey data	16
3.1.1 Construction of the dependent variable	
3.1.2 Risk aversion	18
3.2 Country specific variables	18
3.3 Descriptive statistics	18
3.3.1 Country variable descriptive statistics	18
3.3.2 Survey variable descriptive statistics	19
3.3.3 Testing means	20
4. Methods	21
4.1 Available methods	21

4.2 Cumulative link model2	24
4.2.1 Basic model	24
4.2.2 Link functions	25
4.2.3 Multilevel extensions	26
4.3 Principal component analysis	27
5. Data transformation2	29
5.1 Variable summarization	29
5.2 Oversampling	30
6. Analysis and results	2
6.1 Analysis	2
6.2 Results	2
6.2.1 Model performance	2
6.2.2 Proposition statement results	3
6.3 Scale parameter	5
6.4 Robustness	5
7. Conclusions	9
7.1 General discussion	9
7.1.1 Validated propositions	9
7.1.2 Non-validated propositions4	1
7.2 Academic relevance	2
7.3 Managerial and political relevance43	3
7.4 Limitations and future research43	3
7.4.1 Data limitations44	1
7.4.2 Research method45	5
7.4.2 Research method457.4.3 Missed relationships45	5
7.4.2 Research method	5 5
7.4.2 Research method. 45 7.4.3 Missed relationships. 45 7.4.4 New areas of research. 45 References. 47	5 5 5
7.4.2 Research method. 45 7.4.3 Missed relationships. 45 7.4.4 New areas of research. 45 References. Appendix A.	5 5 5 7 5
7.4.2 Research method.457.4.3 Missed relationships.457.4.4 New areas of research.45References.47Appendix A.55Appendix B.56	5 5 7 5

1. Introduction

Climate change is a serious problem that receives broad attention from various academic fields nowadays. Since the Industrial Revolution, almost two hundred years ago, the world has seen significant increases in the average temperature (Cuomo, 2011). Most of this increase is observed in the last decades which causes a great concern according to various researchers (Gorke, 2003; Barnosky, 2009; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2010). The change in global climate could have big catastrophic consequences for humanity and all other living species on earth, of which a large share is threatened by extinction due to global warming (IPCC, 2007; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2010; Bradley et al., 2010). Action against the alteration of the climate is therefore important.

The biggest driver behind climate change is humanity itself (Rockström et al., 2009). That is, climate change is mainly caused by CO2 emissions which find their biggest roots in transport and food production (Guan et al., 2008). Besides, deforestation increases the human impact on climate change since trees can absorb the emitted CO2 and thereby purify the air (Bala et al., 2007). Consequently, human behaviour needs to be changed in order to fight climate change. Due to the scale of the problem, it is necessary to take wide-ranging actions if one wants to make an impact. Yet, high-level actions by companies and political institutions are unlikely to occur if there is no significant demand for those actions from below (Cuomo, 2011). Stimulating consumer demand and interest in sustainable operations is therefore of great importance.

1.1 The challenge of creating awareness

Increasing awareness for the problem of climate change and move society towards more sustainable consumption yet appears to be a great challenge. Since the effects of climate change are still hardly noticeable for most people, the future consequences for the self are likely to be too intangible (Reczek, Trudel, and White, 2018). Consumers, therefore, might not feel the urgency to alter their current behaviour. On the other hand, knowledgeable consumers that report that they are willing to reduce their ecological footprint most often fail to act after these claims (Frederiks, Stenner, and Hobman, 2015). This observed mismatch between the claims stated by consumers and their actual behaviour gap poses a challenge for companies who are willing to take actions towards more sustainable operations. In the past, several academics have stated that companies that involve in sustainable business practices will become more resilient and earn higher profits in both the short and long term (Caminity, 1992; Trapp, 1998; Porter and Kramer, 2011; Ortiz-de-Mandojana and Bansal, 2016). However, since observed present consumer behaviour does not support this claim (Pereira Heath and Chatzidakis, 2012; Thøgersen, 2014) companies

are less likely to change their way of doing business. By these means, human impact on climate change largely stays the same, resulting in the deterioration of our planet to continue.

1.2 The focus on younger generations

A reasonable thought that arises states that our younger generations will experience most of the negative consequences from climate change as the global temperature is expected to increase up to 5.5 degrees Celsius over the next century (IPCC, 2013). Additionally, change of behaviour is also relevant for our youngsters as climate change will impact the quality of life of their children. For these reasons, the tangibility of the problem is expected to be larger for this group and it is reasonable to think that creating awareness will be easiest for them. A next factor that causes one to think that the younger generations are an important target group for stimulation of sustainable behaviour, is the fact that changing the consumption behaviour of this group results in the highest long-term impact. Not only will this consumer group be the one amongst us that still lives longest on earth, but it is also likely that they are the ones to transfer behavioural habits to the next generations resulting in the change to be durable. For these reasons, changing the consumption behaviour of this particular group is of high importance if one aims to put a stop to climate change. Consequently, this study focusses on answering the following research question: *Which factors contribute to a higher likelihood of sustainable consumption behaviour in terms of meat consumption and water utilization by current younger generations?*

By answering this research question, we will provide academic ground for governments and companies aiming to motivate consumers to behave more sustainable. These answers can help those institutions to find tools and incentives that can successfully turn the buying behaviour of the present and next generations. By these means, this research supports the reduction of the ecological footprint of humanity and enables the realisation of a high-level impact in the battle against climate change.

1.3 Academic relevance

A lot of academic literature has been written on the existing attitude-behaviour gap that is observed around the adoption of sustainable consumption behaviour. White, Habib and Hardisty (2019) provide an overview of many psychological theories that have been written about potential causes of this gap and solutions to overcome it. Yet, a lack of empirical research regarding the drivers behind sustainable consumption behaviour has been observed. Furthermore, the empirical studies that do exist most often only focus on one specific form of sustainable consumption, as well as one factor that influences this. As an example, Price and Leviston (2014) study the influence of risk aversion on the level of sustainable land management by farmers.

Apart from individual-level factors like risk aversion, several empirical studies have been focussing on the differences in levels of sustainable consumption between developed and developing countries. High controversy is observed here in statements whether either wealthy or poorer nations adopt higher levels of pro-environmental behaviour. This hints for the need for further investigation.

This study enriches the empirical literature on the attitude-behaviour gap by being the first one to investigate the factors that influence the level of sustainable consumption of the younger generations in several countries across the globe. Hereby, our focus is unique in the fact that we put our attention on several relationships both at the individual- and the country-level. We go beyond the existing literature on country-level relationships as we also control for the effects of the socio-demographic and cultural environment. Moreover, we broaden the definition of sustainable consumption by combining two well-known alternatives: the reduction of meat and water consumption. Both behaviours have already been studied individually by Clonan et al. (2016) and Corbella and Pujol (2009) respectively but in another context. By combining the two into one definition we offer better ground to make generalizations of the concept of sustainable behaviour.

Our insights open up new angles for future research as we offer new insights about potential drivers behind pro-environmental behaviour of young consumers from multiple backgrounds. New work could use our findings to investigate to what extent these findings could be generalized.

1.4 Research specifications

To answer the research question, there has been made use of an existing online survey that is held among young generations. The survey asked questions related to awareness of the climate change problem and their level of involvement in preventive actions. The sustainable behaviours that were measured by the survey, and thereafter used for the analysis of this research, included the reduction of meat and water consumption. For this reason, sustainable consumption is defined in this paper as adopting at least one of those two practices. The data was enriched by country-specific variables to incorporate the measurement of country-specific relationships. Several ordinal logistic regression models were estimated in order to find potential individual drivers and incentives for sustainable consumption behaviour and country-specific relationships. In the final model, a multilevel component was added to control for country-specific cultural effects that could not be measured directly by the variables in our data.

In the next section, we will introduce our conceptual framework together with a review of the relevant academic literature. Based on this literature, we derived seven different propositions that were used to support our conceptual framework. In the subsequent sections, we will dive deeper into the data that was used and elaborate on the applied methodology. After this section, elaborations will be provided on data transformation techniques followed by a section with the main analysis and results. The paper will conclude with a discussion on the implication of our outcomes and some statements for future research.

2. Conceptual framework and literature

2.1 Conceptual framework

2.1.1 Derivation of concepts

As we used data from an existing survey that was not custom made for this research, we were limited in terms of individual-level concepts that we could study. The survey questions all focussed on revealing the thoughts of participants on the problem of climate change and the actions they had taken against it. At the same time, questions were designed to reveal some personal characteristics of the participants which allow us to study which type of respondents ended up to adopt sustainable behaviours. The topics that we finally selected for this research will be discussed below. Those were the ones that could be linked directly to existing academic literature.

While we were limited in our measurement of individual-level concepts, we could still link the individual observations to more general data on the country-level. Thereby, incorporating the level of the economic prosperity of the country that the participants originate from and their socio-demographic environment. By these means, we could extend our study by looking at the general relationship between sustainable consumption and country-related factors, as this is a topic which has been discussed in academic literature several times.

2.1.2 Framework

The conceptual framework in Figure 1 shows the expected relationships between our data and sustainable consumption. The model measures individual-level effects ranging from risk aversion to personal economic state (as marked by **P1- P6**), as well as country-level effects which are measured by the country-related factors (marked by **P7**). Five relationships are measured using several variables that are marked in the grey boxes on the left side of Figure 1.

2.2 Literature review

The attitude-behaviour gap as observed in situations that involve decisions on the adoption of sustainable alternatives is an aspect that is thoroughly discussed in academic literature. The phenomenon implies that, even though a large share of consumers report concerns about the environment and indicate readiness to act upon this, many often fail to comply with these claims when it comes to their actual consumption behaviour (Vermeir and Verbeke, 2006; Frederiks, Stenner and Hobman, 2015). One clear example is the growing pattern of over-consumption that



Figure 1: Conceptual framework

is still observed today while a large share of the population indicates to be aware of this phenomenon (Krystallis et al., 2012).

2.2.1 Human behavioural bias

The existence of the attitude-behaviour gap is hard to unify with the classic economical thoughts on consumption. Economic theory assumes that consumer choices are purely rational (Simon, 1955; Becker, 1962) which means that individuals make a decision based on their optimised utility in terms of benefits and costs (Scott, 2000). However, consumer behaviour related to pro-environmental actions is often irrational. This is especially true when considering the long-term outcomes (Ariely, 2008). The explanation for this is provided by the fields of psychology and behavioural economics. That is, consumers' consumption decisions are influenced by cognitive biases (DiClemente and Hantula, 2003). These cognitive biases are often the result of 'heuristics' or mental short-cuts that are unconsciously taken by the human brain to avoid the need of dealing with too much complex information around sustainable consumption decisions (Gigerenzer, Hertwig and Pachur, 2011). Correspondingly, Shields, Šolar and Martin (2002) find that stimulations of sustainable behaviour provided by public institutions are only effective when the information around sustainability is spread in a form that people can understand and relate to.

Uncertainty or ambiguity is an important characteristic of sustainable consumption decision making (Reczek, Trudel and White, 2018). Heuristics are also exploited in these types of situations (Kahneman et al., 1982). The outcome of sustainable consumption today will often only translate in pay-offs in the future which causes them to be ambiguous (Weber, 2010). Additionally, the future pay-offs are likely to be experienced by the entire society and to a lesser extent by the individual itself. Therefore, the consumer has to sacrifice some positive utility of today while he or she is not certain how much of the future pay-off will be received back (White, Habib and Hardisty, 2019). The fact that the exact future pay-offs are uncertain implies that pro-environmental behaviour involves a high risk (Holt and Laury, 2002). Since most humans tend to be risk-averse, consumers are likely to avoid such behaviours (Kahneman, Knetsch and Thaler, 1991). Related to this, Price and Leviston (2014) find that the adoption of pro-environmental practices by farmers is negatively impacted by the individual level of risk aversion. These findings raise the thought that risk aversion will also impact the decision of young consumers to involve in sustainable behaviour. This leads to our first proposition statement:

P1. *The adoption of sustainable consumption behaviour by young consumer groups depends on their level of risk aversion*

2.2.2 Problem tangibility

One heuristic that is often exploited by the human brain in uncertain and high-risk situations is 'availability' (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974). According to Tversky and Kahneman (1974), the availability bias causes people to use relatable outcomes or situations that are top of mind as a handle for future decisions. Yet, the problem with sustainable practices is that both the outcomes of climate change and the preventive actions are intangible (Carrete et al., 2012). Therefore, it is likely that consumers show suboptimal behaviour regarding pro-environmental actions based on this heuristic. Efforts to enhance the tangibility could help in solving this problem (White, Habib and Hardisty, 2019). For example, one can stimulate consumers to think more about the future and increase the awareness of the possible impact they can have on the quality of their own future life and that of their children (Wade-Benzoni, Tenbrunsel and Bazerman, 1997; Zaval, Markowitz and Weber, 2015). Communication on local climate change effects instead of generalizing it to a world problem can also help to make the problem more tangible (Scannell and Gifford, 2013). Framing the message in such a way that the future losses for the self are emphasized is likely to result in even bigger improvements (Hardisty and Weber, 2009). This, in combination with a detailed description of the different steps that can be taken to prevent climate change, is likely to stimulate the actual desired behaviour (White, MacDonnell and Dahl, 2011). A study with a link to tangibility is provided by Lebel (2013). He finds that awareness of climate change and the level in which people take actions against it depends on to what extend extreme weather conditions have been experienced in the past in the local area. Individuals tend to adopt more sustainable practices when direct consequences of climate change, like the experienced level of temperature change (Zaval et al., 2014) or extreme weather events, are 'available' in their mind (Berrang-Ford et al., 2011). Findings that support this show higher levels of awareness in developing countries compared to Western countries (Schneider, 1988; Livernash, 1992; Brechin and Kempton, 1994) as those countries seem to experience more of the early day effects of environmental deterioration (Durning, 1989). As a result, people from these countries are more likely to have experiences available in their minds (Lebel, 2013). Based on this, our following proposition states:

P2. *The familiarization with extreme weather events contributes to the level of sustainable consumption by young people.*

2.2.3 Habit formation

Other factors have also been suggested to trigger pro-environmental actions. One of them is habit formation. Many types of sustainable behaviours (like reduced meat and water consumption) are most often habitual (Verplanken and Roy, 2016). When old (unsustainable) habits can be changed into new and more sustainable ones, the sustainable behaviour is likely to become permanent (Brown, Werner and Kim, 2003; Verplanken et al., 2008). Corresponding to this, the third proposition of this research states: **P3.** *Incorporation of sustainable consumption patterns in the daily routine of young consumers will lead to higher levels of sustainable consumption.*

However, changing former habits forms a major challenge since these behaviours are performed automatically (Verplanken and Roy, 2016). Yet, individuals appear to be more flexible to change their habits as soon as a contextual discontinuity around the old habit occurs (Bamberg, 2006). Multiple studies showed that major life events like moving to another place (Bamberg, 2006; Thøgersen, 2012; Verplanken et al., 2008) or switching jobs (Walker, Thomas and Verplanken, 2015) form moments in which people are flexible to switch their habits. Events like these can then be used to determine the right moments to impose incentives for sustainable behaviour (Verplanken and Roy, 2016).

2.2.4 Social influence

Another potential driver behind sustainable consumption behaviour is the mind-set and behaviour of the social environment. Social influence is stated to be a high contributor to awareness and the level of adoption of sustainable consumption patterns (Abrahamse and Steg, 2013). The sustainable buying

behaviour of consumers and their involvement in certain actions like energy conservation is highly affected by what close others think, believe and do (Cialdini and Goldstein, 2004; Moretti, 2011; Howland, Hunger and Mann, 2012). Three forces are mainly at work. The first of them is the prevailing social norm (Cialdini et al., 2006) which can be split out in two different types: the descriptive norm, which describes what other people do, and the injunctive norm, which expresses what others approve of (Cialdini, Kallgren, & Reno, 1991). Especially the descriptive norm can highly influence peoples' intentions to involve in sustainable behaviour (Han and Stoel, 2017). When the larger share of society does not engage in sustainable actions it is very unlikely that an individual consumer does so himself (Schultz et al., 2007). The second force, social desirability, implies that people are strongly driven by social status (Griskevicius, Tybur and Van den Bergh, 2010). Consumer decisions are partly driven by the desire to make a good impression on others (Green and Peloza, 2014). Therefore, the adoption of proenvironmental behaviour is unlikely if other people do not attach value to sustainability or even see it as undesirable (Brough et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2016). The last force is social identity, which is related to the feeling of group membership (Stets and Burke, 2000). The presence of social identity means that people are more likely to engage in sustainable actions if other in-group members are doing so (Goldstein, Cialdini and Griskevicius, 2008). For all these reasons above, it is believed that the level of sustainable consumption of youngsters is affected by the social environment. Our fourth proposition therefore states: **P4.** Social influence impacts the adoption of sustainable consumption behaviours by young consumers.

Yet, social influence can also be used as a driver to encourage sustainable behaviour when information is spread about the sustainable actions of other people in society (White, Habib and Hardisty, 2019). By making publicly known what other people are doing, the forces of the social norm, social desirability and social identity can incentivise people to behave in the desired manner (Goldstein, Cialdini and Griskevicius, 2008).

2.2.5 Cognitive abilities

As discussed before, Shields et al. (2002) find that pro-environmental behaviour is more likely to occur when people understand the information that has been spread about climate change. Corresponding to this, several researchers have argued that pro-environmental behaviour is positively related to the amount of education that an individual received (Torgler and García-Valiñas, 2007; De Silva and Pownall, 2014). Empirical evidence for this was found by Meyer (2015), who showed that an extra year of obtained education enhances the probability of a consumer to adopt sustainable behaviours. As most of the participants in our survey are not likely to have finished their educational careers, it is not possible to apply this measurement to our population. Yet, it is assumed that the total number of years of education is strongly

related to the cognitive ability of an individual. For this reason, we validate whether a similar relationship exists for the newest generation of consumers by analyzing the effect of cognitive skills. This leads to the statement of the fifth proposition:

P5. *There exist a positive relationship between cognitive ability and the level of sustainable consumption by young consumers*

2.2.6 Economic state

A few studies regarding sustainable consumption have highlighted the influence of a household's perceived financial state. The theory on this was introduced by Steg and Vlek (2009) who designed a conceptual theoretical framework on the drivers behind sustainable consumption. Here, it was stated that a household's economic state might be positively related to the adoption of pro-environmental behaviours. Supportive empirical findings for this theory are provided by Ertz et al. (2016) and Clark, Kotchen and Moore (2003). The latter find that participants of green-electricity programs generally report above-average incomes. Based on these studies we might expect that higher financial ability will also play a positive role in the level of sustainable consumption of youngsters. This leads to the statement of the sixth proposition: **P6.** *The economic state of young individuals positively influences their level of sustainable consumption*

2.2.7 Country-related differences

As suggested by the differences in experienced changes in weather conditions, levels of sustainable consumption possibly differ between countries and regions (Brechin and Bhandari, 2011; Zaval et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2015). Schneider (1988), Livernash (1992), and Brechin and Kempton (1994) already showed that differences in weather conditions resulted in a higher awareness about the problem of climate change in developing countries. However, earlier studies have spread the thought that only people from developed countries are adopting pro-environmental behaviours (Sill, 1975; Broad and Cavanagh, 1993). Some research even states that sustainable behaviour is limited to only the wealthiest social groups within developed countries (Tucker, 1982). This thought is supported by the theory of post-materialism which is the driver behind the development of environmental concern according to researchers (Paehlke, 1989; Inglehart, 1992). Regardless the rise of globalization (O'Brien and Leichenko, 2000), a more recent study of Lee et al. (2015) still shows large variations in the adoption of sustainable practices across the globe with higher levels in Western countries. These observed differences between developed and developing countries might be influenced by cultural differences (Jamelske, Barrett and Boulter, 2013; Lee et al., 2015), socio-demographic factors (Schultz, Zelezny and Dalrymple, 2000; Whitmarsch, 2011) and economic prosperity (Scruggs and Benegal, 2012). Hence, the last proposition of this research states: **P7.** The adoption of sustainable practices by young consumers depends on country-specific factors.

2.3 Fixed effects and control variables

2.3.1 Fixed effects

Since countries can differ in their culture, socio-demographics and state of economic development, it is expected that individuals from different countries will vary in their likelihood of adopting sustainable consumption behaviours. As our data does not allow to control for cultural effects directly another component should be added. The effect of culture is assumed to be constant for each respondent and is therefore stated to be "fixed" (England et al., 1988). For this reason, a fixed effect parameter for country is introduced which allows the initial probability that an individual adopted sustainable consumption practices, to vary according to their country of origin.

2.3.2 Control variables

Since an individual needs to be aware of the climate change problem before he or she can consciously take actions against it, it is expected that an individuals' general level of awareness is related to the level of sustainable consumption. At the same time, some of our independent factors like extreme weather events, and social influence are also likely to relate to awareness. Therefore, part of the effect that awareness has on sustainable consumption behaviour is likely to be nested in our independent factors. Even so, it is expected that age and gender influence the response patterns of the survey participants. To make sure those variables do not impact the main effects of our variables of interest, it was decided to include age, gender, and awareness as control variables in our models.

3. Data description

3.1 Survey data

The data that was used for the analyses of this research is derived from the Global State of Youth Preferendum survey that was held in November and December 2019. The survey was initiated by a collaborative effort of KidsRights and Facebook. KidsRights is a worldwide acknowledged non-profit organization that devotes its' efforts to the preservation of children rights and child well-being across the globe (KidsRights, 2020). The survey has been published via a campaign on the Facebook platform and targeted people in the age of 13 to 24 from all countries of which the Facebook default language was English.

The survey consisted of 27 questions that were developed by members of various European academic institutions. The goal of the survey was to reveal the thoughts of youngsters around the world about several topics around climate change. Participants were asked about whether they thought climate change is a serious problem. Answers were given on a 7-point Likert scale where 1= Not at all and 7= Very much. Participants were also asked about whether they participated in one or more of the following five different actions in the past twelve months:

- Avoided eating meat or reduced their meat consumption
- Re-used plastic shopping bags and/or recycled plastic bottles
- Reduced water consumption
- Protested against climate change
- Volunteered for an organization that tackles climate change

Other questions focused on the characteristics of the participants. Several questions asked about personal information like gender, country of origin, and current education. Others asked about their willingness to take risks or to help others on a 10-point scale where 1= Not at all willing and 10= Very willing. Those were supplemented by questions about whether they generally showed certain personal behaviours (on a 7-point scale where 1= Definitely disagree and 7= Definitely agree) and routines (on a 2-point scale where 1= Disagree and 7= Agree). Lastly, questions were asked about the participants' economical state (on a 7-point scale where 1= Strongly disagree and 7= Strongly agree) and their thoughts about the involvement of other young people in their country with the climate change problem (on a 7-point scale where 1= No one and 7= Everyone).

Answers were registered as soon as the participants created an account that allowed access to the survey.

The dataset resulting from the survey consists of 10.900 respondents. Out of these respondents, 259 were in the age over 24. Since their exact age was unknown it was decided to remove those observations and limit our definition of young consumers to people in the age of 13 to 24. The remaining observations originated from 44 different countries divided over all continents. The division of observations over all countries can be derived from Figure 2. Almost fifty per cent of all respondents come from the United States, followed by Austria and Angola that represent both around ten per cent of the observations. Furthermore, a majority of the countries are only represented by a minor share of respondents. All countries on the right of Lebanon contain less than fifty observations. Because this amount of observations is too small to detect any country related effects it was decided to omit these countries from the analysis. This left the dataset with 10.497 observations. As a last notice, the resulting dataset was evenly balanced in terms of gender. This gender variable was subsequently transformed into a factor to be able to incorporate it as a control variable later on. The variable for age was transformed into numeric to reduce the amount of independent variable categories in our future models.



Figure 2: Total number of respondents per country

Not all of the 27 questions in the survey were of interest for this research. Since the interest lies in consumers that reduce meat consumption and water usage, the three variables representing the other sustainable behaviour options were removed from the dataset. Furthermore, variables that represented respondents subjective ideas on climate change solutions were taken out from the analyses.

3.1.1 Construction of the dependent variable

Two dummy variables were used to indicate whether a respondent reduced his or her meat consumption and water usage (=1) or not (=0). To create a dependent variable for the analysis, these two variables were merged into a single ordinal variable that takes the following values:

0 = adopted none of the sustainable behaviours

- 1 = adopted one of the two sustainable behaviours
- 2 = adopted both sustainable behaviours

The two original dummy variables were subsequently removed.

3.1.2 Risk aversion

P1 suggests that the level of risk aversion affects the choice to involve in sustainable consumption. Two variables were derived from the survey to measure this relationship. *Future pay-off* expresses a respondent's willingness to give up utility today to receive an uncertain pay-off in the future. Secondly, *risk taking* expresses the level of an individual's reported willingness to take risks.

3.2 Country specific variables

The dataset was enriched by country-specific variables that were retrieved from the World Bank, an international organization that works together with governments all over the world to gather data and practices efforts to reduce poverty in developing countries (The World Bank Group, 2020). From the World Bank, the World Development Indicators (WDI) report was obtained which includes 1428 variables for 217 different countries regarding the topics of poverty and equality, socio-demographics, the environment, and economics. From this dataset, four different variables were selected for all 12 countries that remained after the above-performed transformations. Variables included a country's GDP per capita, government expenditure on education as a percentage of GDP, life expectancy at birth, and the share of the population living in urban areas. It was chosen to select government expenditure on education in a country since this data was available for all 12 countries. For each variable, the most recent data was selected which stems from the year 2018.

3.3 Descriptive statistics

3.3.1 Country variable descriptive statistics

Table 1 presents descriptive statistics of a selection of the macro-economic and socio-demographic variables. The large standard deviation for the GDP per capita indicates that there are vast differences in country prosperity. Also the standard deviations and minimum and maximum values of the other variables

show large differences between countries. This indicates that both developed and developing countries are represented in our dataset.

Statistic	Mean	St. Dev.	\mathbf{Min}	Max
GDP per capita (in \$)	43,321	23,686	1698	62,795
Government expenditure on education (% of GDP)	4.36	1.12	1.97	5.5
Life expectancy at birth	76.54	6.01	60.78	82.75
Urban population (% of total population)	71.06	19.09	24.60	91.87

Table 1: Descriptive statistics of macro-economic and socio-demographic variables

3.3.2 Survey variable descriptive statistics

To obtain descriptive statistics for the survey variables, the character variable that indicates which country the participant originates from was transformed into a factor variable to be able to provide descriptives per category. All other variables that were on a Likert scale were transformed into numeric so the ordered nature of the categories could be captured by later analysis. A first impression of the possible relationships in our data could be obtained by looking at Figure 3. Here, the correlations between the ordinal variable and the numeric variables are presented. No strong relationships are yet revealed since the largest absolute value is lower than 0.17.



Figure 3: Correlation between the numeric independent variables and the dependent variable

3.3.3 Testing means

To proceed with the investigation into the existing relationships in our data, one-way ANOVA tests have been executed to test the existence of different mean levels of sustainable consumption for different groups in our independent variables of interest. Here, we started to look at whether the means differ per country. Figure 4 indeed shows different patterns. The outcome of the ANOVA test on different means that can be derived from Table 2 verifies that at least one of these means is significantly different from the other countries (p < 0.05). This indicates that respondents from at least one country show different patterns in the level of sustainable consumption compared to the rest.



Mean level of sustainable consumption per country

Figure 4: Differences in mean level of sustainable consumption between countries

	Sum of Squares	df	mean squares	F	Sig.
Country	443	11	40.25	72.82	0.000***
Residuals	5795	10485	0.55		
Total	6138	10496			

Table 2: Results of a one-way ANOVA test on different mean levels of sustainable consumption among countries

The existence of different group means in the level of sustainable consumption has also been studied for all other independent variables of interest. Twelve out of fifteen variables show that at least one group has a different mean level of sustainable consumption (p<0.05). The results of these ANOVA tests can be found in Table 3 in Appendix A. Based on these outcomes, the expectation arises that later analyses will show significant relationships between these twelve variables and the level of sustainable consumption.

4. Methods

The objective of this study is to discover which variables hold a significant relationship with *sustainable consumption*. As explained in chapter two, we expect relationships to exist on both the individual- and country-level. Above all, we expect that the answer patterns vary based on the country young individuals come from due to the country-specific culture. This thought directly harms the assumption of our observations to be fully independent. A method is therefore needed that controls for this interdependency.

We will start this section with an exploration of the different methods of analysis that could be used for this research. Subsequently, we will proceed with a theoretical and mathematical explanation of the method that was finally selected. The last part of this section deals with the explanation of *principal component analysis* (PCA) with *varimax* rotation, that is used to strengthen the analyses by adding summary variables of the survey data to the model.

4.1 Available methods

First, one way to determine the relationships between our variables and *sustainable consumption* could be to merge the information whether a respondent reduced meat and/or water consumption into one dummy variable, that indicates if the individual involved in sustainable consumption behaviour (=1) or not (=0), and estimate the effects in a simple, generalized linear model. Yet, a drawback of this model is that it is not able to control for the partial-interdependency. On top of that, using this method would result in a loss of information on the intensity of sustainable behaviour since a respondent could adopt different levels. That is, reducing both meat and water consumption is better than adopting only one of the two. This implies that our research deals with an ordered categorical response variable with k = 3 categories. As a consequence, a method of analysis is required that can deal with this ordered nature.

To overcome this problem, our dependent variable could be split into two separate dummy variables for both the reduction of meat and water consumption and run a generalized linear model for each of them. By this, we would measure the relationships between our factors and the reduction of meat and water consumption separately. However, for this research we would rather want to focus on more general relationships between various factors and sustainable consumption. This would not be obtained by looking at the specific effects of those factors on reduced meat and water consumption independently. Furthermore, we want to take into account that the adoption of both behaviours is of higher value than the adoption of only one of the two. In some cases, the use of a survey can cause forms of sample biases. A method that could be useful in these cases is the bivariate probit model. Sometimes bias can be caused in the data due to some prior selection process. An example of this is given by Boyes, Hoffman and Low (1989) who use the bivariate probit model for the estimation of credit loan repayment probabilities. Sample bias was present here because credit officers already refused to grant loans to a certain group of applicants and thereby left out a part of the population in advance that would be less likely to repay the loan. The bivariate probit model can correct for this kind of bias by running a model a priori to the normal generalized linear model that controls for the characteristics of the group that was left out. Our data could be prone to a bias of a similar kind as our survey was only available in English. Yet, since we still have data from a large variety of countries this bias was not believed to be big. Our wish to maintain the ordered nature of our response variable outweighs the risk of this potential bias and therefore it was decided not to use the bivariate probit model.

Furthermore, possible situations exist in which the underlying distribution of the different response categories is correlated. This problem would be likely to occur when the sustainable consumption behaviour of respondents is measured multiple times over a certain period. In these cases, multivariate probit models could be useful which allow for more flexible modelling of this correlated structure (Chib and Greenberg, 1998). Since we expect different response patterns for various countries our underlying structure is indeed likely to adopt some correlation. Yet, multivariate models still assume all different cases to be independent. This method would, therefore, fail to deliver accurate predictions as our observations are likely to be interdependent.

Since we anticipate different answer patterns between countries, the data distribution among countries is likely to differ. A method that could be applied when a dataset faces different distributions between subgroups is a mixture model. Mixture models can identify latent subgroups in a dataset that are normally distributed by itself but differ in distribution from other groups. This causes the overall population not to correspond to a normal distribution (Demidenko, 2013). When using mixture models, the group (mixture component) membership of the observations is often not directly observed. For this reason, the model tries to identify these separate mixture components itself (Day, 1969). Applying a mixture model to our sustainable behaviour dataset would enable us to find different subgroups that wouldn't be limited to the country border. Thereby, we would be able to identify possible effects of social group memberships that go beyond just country-related culture. Think of certain (pro-environmental) social movements or religions that find members across multiple countries worldwide. Nevertheless, it was chosen for this study to focus solely on the possible effects that could be caused by country-specific culture. Since certainty is not guaranteed

that a mixed model would identify subgroups that exactly correspond to the different countries it was chosen not to adopt this method.

An alternative method that could be employed to control for subgroups (and resulting interdependencies) in our data is a multilevel regression model. Multilevel models are generally used when observations are nested in groups (the level 2) (Snijders and Bosker, 2011), in our case the different countries. These type of models allows for the calculation of varying regression coefficients for each of the separate classes of the level 2 and thereby controlling for the effect that culture can have on the relationship between a predictor and a covariate.

However, a problem that is observed frequently is the lack of a sufficient sample size for the multilevel model to result in accurate estimations (Maas and Hox, 2005). This lack in observations most often occurs for level 2. Maas and Hox (2005) show that inaccuracy in the estimation is very likely to occur for groups with 50 observations or less. Besides, not only the number of observations within groups tend to be important, but also the total number of groups itself when one aims to obtain accurate variance estimates (Van der Leeden et al., 1997; Browne and Draper, 2000). The minimum number of groups is therefore stated to be 24 to 30 (Browne and Draper, 2000). Our initial dataset contains 44 different countries which would be sufficient according to the latter prerequisite. However, only 12 countries contain 50 observations or more and three of those only just surpass this threshold. For these reasons, our data appears not to be fully suitable for the use of a multilevel model that calculates separate coefficients for each country. In making the trade-off between the certainty of reliable outcomes and the level of details provided by our analysis, it was decided not to use such a model as our main method of analysis.

Furthermore, it should be noted that original multilevel regression models are not able to deal with the ordered nature of our response variable. The alternative that is offered, the multilevel cumulative logit model, will finally be used as our method of analysis and will be discussed in detail later on in this section. The multilevel cumulative logit model is an extension of the class of cumulative link models. This method offers the ability to deal with ordered response categories and has the flexibility to account for the multilevel characteristics in our data. For these reasons, cumulative link models have been chosen as the method of analysis in this study. The next part of this section will be used to further explain the technical details of this method and its' multilevel extensions.

4.2 The cumulative link model

As has been stated before, this research deals with an ordered response variable. There are two types of ordinal variables which are identified by Anderson (1984): continuous grouped variables, that for example cover different income classes (0-16000 euro, 16000-32000 euro, and so on), and "assessed" ordered variables that represent a scale of judgement (*totally disagree*, ..., *totally agree*). The cumulative link model (CLM) can correctly handle the ordered character of both types (Agresti and Natarajan, 2001). The model has been introduced first by McCullagh (1980) who referred to it as *the proportional odds* model. The model is related to classes of linear models and generalized linear models which gives it the benefit that outcomes are easily interpretable. Additionally, just like generalized linear models, the CLM uses the principle of *maximum likelihood* for finding model convergence.

4.2.1 Basic model

The different classes of observation in the ordinal response variable can be expressed by a random variable y_k where k = 1, ..., l indicate the different categories. y_k is stated to be a random variable as it is assumed that the categories are related to an underlying continually distributed variable, v. For any given observation *i* the model tries to predict the cumulative probability that y_k is smaller than or equal to the *k*'th class given a set of predictor variables x. This can be mathematically expressed by

$$F(\gamma_k) = \theta_k - \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{x},\tag{1}$$

where,

$$\gamma_k = P(y_k \le k | \mathbf{x}) = \pi_1 + \dots + \pi_k \text{ with } \sum_{k=1}^l \pi_k = 1$$

are the cumulative probabilities and F represents a link function that converts a (0,1) interval into $(-\infty,\infty)$. Since γ_l must be equal to one, the CLM only calculates l-1 probabilities. Additionally, θ_k indicates the threshold parameters $(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_{l-1})$ that can be interpreted as the intercepts for the l-1 categories, and β^T is a vector of parameters $(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_z)$ that represent the unidentified regression coefficients. Since the estimated probabilities are cumulative, θ_k is strictly ordered and satisfies

$$\theta_0 < \theta_1 < \dots < \theta_{l-1}. \tag{2}$$

The thresholds indicate the cut points on the latent scale of v. Furthermore, because the basic model assumes that the thresholds are independent of i, any observed category difference between two observations is merely caused by different values of x.

4.2.2 Link functions

Since CLM aims to calculate a cumulative probability, the value of γ_k is situated on a (0,1) interval. This implies that the occurrence of the event γ_k cannot be linearly related to x, but rather takes the form of a sigmoid relationship. To correct for this, the link function in the cumulative link model transforms the relationship of the linear function $\theta_k - \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{x}$.

Three types of link functions are commonly used. These link functions are the same as those that are exploited in generalized linear models and are known as de logit, probit and log-log link function. It is also possible to insert other link functions that allow for more flexibility, just as observed in Ortega et al (2003). However, explanations of these functions are omitted in this section since the data in this research does not need that much complexity.

As stated above, the logit link is used to transform the linear combination of the covariates into probability measures on a scale between 0 and 1 while assuming a logistic distribution. Applying the logit to (1) we get,

$$ln\frac{\gamma_k}{(1-\gamma_k)} = \theta_k - \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{x} \,. \tag{3}$$

In case x is a dummy variable containing two categories the odds ratio (OR) of $\gamma_k(x_1)$ relative to the same conditions, except for $x = x_2$, can be expressed by

$$OR = \frac{\gamma_k(x_1)/(1-\gamma_k(x_1))}{\gamma_k(x_2)/(1-\gamma_k(x_2))} = \frac{\exp(\theta_k - x_1^T \beta)}{\exp(\theta_k - x_2^T \beta)} = \exp((x_2^T - x_1^T)\beta).$$
(4)

Since $x_2 - x_1 = 1$ the odds ratio is $\exp(-\beta_2)$. Equivalently, the odds ratio of $\gamma_k(x_2)$ is $\exp(\beta_2)$.

Whereas the logit link function assumes a logistic distribution, the probit link uses a normal distribution for the latent distribution function. This results in the following model,

$$\Phi^{-1}(\gamma_k) = \theta_k - \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{x},\tag{5}$$

where Φ^{-1} represents the inverse of the normal distribution function.

Lastly, the log-log distribution is derived from the proportional hazards model from Cox (1972) and is especially useful in cases where one wants to measure the probability of survival beyond category k given x. The cumulative log-log model makes use of the Gumbel distribution and can be expressed by the following formula,

$$\log\{-\log(1-\gamma_k)\} = \theta_k - \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{x},\tag{6}$$

where $1 - \gamma_k$ constitutes the probability of survival.

4.2.3 Multilevel extensions

The classic cumulative link model assumes that the threshold values are independent of x which leads to constant thresholds for all covariates. However, cases can be depicted where thresholds are affected by the values of one or more variables. Because these effects are not part of the ordinal features of the data, Christensen (2018) refers to these as *nominal effects*. Breen and Luijkx (2010) also use the term *location effects* since these effects cause the average location of the relationship to differ across different subgroups. Yet, when looking at general statistical literature, these effects fall within the class of *fixed effects*. The *partial proportional odds* model introduced by Peterson and Harrell Jr. (1990) relaxes the *proportional odds* assumption by implementing the *fixed effects* by a linear relationship between the thresholds and one or more covariates w into the CLM. Here, one important condition includes that covariates in w may not be present in x since the parameters would otherwise not be identifiable.

Furthermore, the cumulative link model assumes equal variance among all observations on the latent continuous distribution. However, as explained with the multilevel regression model, one can call for instances where different subpopulations in the data show different variance in their responses. An easy example can be given by thinking of respondents having different answer patterns because they come from different social and cultural environments. Data is then more likely to correspond to *non-proportional odds* (Peterson and Harrell Jr., 1990).

Adding a scale parameter that allows the scale of all other parameters in the model to vary according to certain covariates z also relaxes the *proportional odds* assumption. By incorporating *scale* and *fixed effect* parameters into model (1) we obtain,

$$F(\gamma_k) = \frac{\tilde{\theta}_k - \beta x^T}{\exp(z\zeta)},\tag{7}$$

where $\tilde{\theta}_k(\boldsymbol{w}^T) = \theta_k - \tilde{\boldsymbol{\beta}} \boldsymbol{w}^T$ corresponds to a linear relationship between the category thresholds and the covariates \boldsymbol{w} , which is the added *fixed effect*, and $\exp(\boldsymbol{z}\boldsymbol{\zeta})$ represent the addition of *scale effects*.

Both aforementioned extensions allow to control for the effect of underlying subgroups in our data. Hence, we state that both correspond to a multilevel element. Adding the scale parameter results in a multilevel model that comes closest to the original multilevel regression model since it allows the covariate coefficients to differ for each level 2 group (z). However, only one single multilevel parameter is calculated when adding the scale parameter to the cumulative link model. This means that, per country, all individual-level coefficients are corrected by the same value. This is a deficiency compared to the original multilevel regression model where the level 2 effect is allowed to vary per individual regression coefficient.

4.3 Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) is an unsupervised method that aims to reduce the number of dimensions m in a dataset by summarizing the data into r uncorrelated *principal components*, also called factors (Wold, Esbensen and Geladi, 1987) while explaining as much of the variation in the data as possible. PCA approximates the original data matrix X, with N rows and m columns, by a linear relationship with two other matrices: T and P,

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \boldsymbol{T}\boldsymbol{P}' + \boldsymbol{E} \tag{9}$$

where the columns of T are a representation of the object patterns in X and the rows of P show the different variable patterns in the data in the form of *factor loadings*. The latter represent the correlations between the factors f_r and the original variables in the dataset under the condition that the original values are scaled. Lastly, E contains the error term that covers the residuals in the model.

The amount of variance that is explained by f_r is expressed by its' *eigenvalue* $\lambda_r^2 = var(f_r)$ and indicates the importance of the factor. The nature of f_r is ordered such that $\lambda_1^2 > \lambda_2^2 > \cdots > \lambda_r^2$ and it holds that

$$\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \dots + \lambda_r^2 = m. \tag{10}$$

One important part of the PCA analysis is to decide on the value of r. This value can be derived from a scree plot, which is a visual display of the relative importance of a factor. This relative importance is also known as the variance accounted for $(VAF) = \lambda_r^2/m$. The value for r that is chosen is the number for which a clear bend in the decrease of VAF is observed in the plot.

One characteristic of PCA is that the resulting factors can be mathematically rotated which changes the value of the loadings while not losing any of the variance that was captured. This is realized by adding a rotation matrix \mathbf{R} to (9) via,

$$TP' = TRR^{-1}P' \tag{11}$$

A common rotation that is used for the analysis of survey data is called *varimax*, which is derived from Kaiser (1958). The rotations that are applied with *varimax* are *orthogonal* and the method aims to maximize, per factor, the value of the loadings for only a few variables while it minimizes the loadings of the other variables. The rotation matrix corresponding to this is constituted by,

$$\mathbf{R} = \sum_{j=1}^{r} \frac{m \sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_{ij}^2/h_i^2)^2 - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{ij}^2/h_i^2\right)^2}{m^2},$$
(12)

where a_{ij} is the original factor loading for variable *i* where $i = 1 \dots m$ and h_i^2 represents the squared VAF.

Applying \mathbf{R} to (9) via (11) results in a matrix of *factor loadings* where *i* has a high *factor loading* for only one or a few factors. By these means, the data gets summarized into a few latent concepts that were indirectly measured by the survey, which results in more interpretable factors.

One can use the PCA solution in subsequent analyses by incorporating the columns of T as new variables in a model. With this practice, the level of uncertainty in the model may be reduced. Because, incorporating the latent concept instead of the original variables is likely to eliminate a part of the noise that was measured by the individual elements (Chapman and Feit, 2015).

5. Data transformation

5.1 Variable summarization

As the data that was used for this research stems from a survey, the first step in the data analysis process involved exploring the existence of latent concepts as measured by the survey questions. Accordingly, a PCA with *varimax* rotation has been performed. For this execution, the data requires no missing values. Because the participants were not required to answer all questions this condition does not hold in the original dataset. Observations that included at least one missing value could not be used for the analysis. Consequently, only 3798 out of the 10641 initial observations could be included in the PCA and subsequently in all other methods of analysis that were performed in later stages.

Before the execution of PCA, all numeric variables were scaled by subtracting the mean of each variable from its' original value and subsequently divide this result by its' standard deviation. PCA often shows bad performance on categorical data which led to the decision to only summarize the scaled numerical variables.

A scree plot was used to decide upon the number of factors to be generated by the PCA. The first five factors were selected for the analysis since a clear bend was observed at the fifth dimension as is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Scree plot showing the relative variance explained by the first 10 dimensions

Table 4 shows the resulting *factor loadings* for the first five components. Factor 1 contains high *loadings* (>0.4) for variables that indicate the influence of other parties. This factor is therefore defined as the 'social

influence factor' and can be used in our models to support the measurement of **P4**. The variance that is captured by factor 2 mostly explains the variances caused by variables that are concerned with the financial state of participants. This factor is called the 'economic state factor' and will be used to measure the effect of individual *economic state* in any subsequent model. Next, the highest loadings in factor 3 correspond to variables that focus on the extent to which the respondents do good in life. For this reason, we call this factor 'level of doing good'. Factor 4 clearly shows the highest loadings for the two problem recognition related variables. Accordingly, this factor is named 'awareness factor' and can be used as an alternative control variable. Lastly, factor 5 contains the highest loadings for the variables that are concerned with the extent to which respondents are willing to pay money to tackle the problem. Consequently, this factor is defined as 'willingness to spend money on climate change'. Since factor 3 and 5 do not capture large shares of any of the variables in the conceptual framework, they were not used in further analysis.

5.2 Oversampling

For the determination of model performance in later stages, the predictive accuracy of the model was tested on new data that was not used for model training. For this, the 3798 observations were divided over a training and test set according to an 80-20 per cent ratio. The distribution of the training set over the dependent response categories is presented in Figure 6. As becomes clear, the observations in the original training set were not equally divided over the categories. This initial distribution is likely to cause the problem of inaccurate prediction of cases when people do not involve in sustainable consumption. Consequently, the resulting model would have been less valuable since it is not likely to capture full reality. Oversampling was used to overcome this problem, resulting in a more equally balanced training dataset.



Figure 6: Original and oversampled distribution of the training cases over the different response categories

	Factor1	Factor2	Factor3	Factor4	Factor5
awareness	0	0	0	0.750	0
more actions needed	0	0	0	0.760	0
teachers	0.506	0	0.117	0	0
parents	0.489	0	0.181	0	0
friends	0.480	0	0	0	0
other people	0.309	0	0	0.151	0
news	0.321	0	0	0	0
movies	0.384	0	0.138	0	0
trust politicians	0.424	0	0	-0.146	0
trust media	0.477	0	0	0	0
trust Scientists	0.178	0	0	0.204	0
trust famous people	0.468	0	0	0	0
mathematics skills	0	0.131	0.109	0.127	0
English knowledge	0	0.126	0.151	0.261	0.104
willingness to spend money	0	0.174	0	0.236	0.852
spend money regardless others	0	0.123	0.112	0.212	0.869
awareness of others	0.461	0.104	0	0	0
others spend money	0.515	0	0	0	0.141
extreme weather experienced	0	0	0.105	0.117	0
extreme weather expected	-0.127	0	0	0.234	0
future pay-off	0	0	0.335	0.313	0.259
Risk taking	0	0	0.361	0.228	0.219
helping others	0	0	0.396	0.265	0.137
ability to purchase	0	0.806	0	0	0
ability to pay bills	0	0.906	0	0	0
expected future economic state	0.103	0.696	0	0	0
responsibility for own actions	0.134	0	0.529	0	0
never stealing	0	0	0.466	0	0
never gossip	0	0	0.591	0	0
obey laws	0	0	0.416	0	0
never eavesdrop	0	0	0.551	0	0
men vs women	0.302	0	0.112	-0.292	0
hard working	0	0	0.150	0	0
eat too much	0	0	-0.185	0	0
like to travel	0	0	0	0	0
advertisements are silly	0	0	0	0	0
dayly routine	0.115	0	0	0	0

Table 4: Factor loadings of all numeric survey variables for each of the first five components

6. Analysis and results

6.1 Analysis

The seven propositions that have been stated so far, will be studied together in one single ordinal logit model. Seven different variations of this model were created and their performances will be compared in this section by looking at the Akaike information criterion (AIC), log-likelihood value and predictive accuracy. The latter will be calculated by generating model predictions on the test set and comparing the outcomes with the original values. Consequently, model accuracy identifies the out-of-sample performance of the model whereas the first two performance measures test the in-sample performance. The oversampled training dataset was used for model estimation which implies that results hereafter are based on 3801 cases of which some are randomly selected copies of the minority class observations. A note should be made that this action causes the introduction of a small bias in our sample. Lastly, model estimation has been applied to the scaled variables to obtain comparable coefficients.

The first model that was generated only included the individual-level predictors to solely focus on the individual-level effects. The second model does the same for the country-level predictors, whereas the third model combines the two. The fourth model also adds direct control variables for individual-level awareness, age and gender. In the fifth model, the *awareness* control variable got replaced by the 'awareness factor' to see whether this improves model performance. While including the best-performing control variable, model six replaces the social influence variables by the 'social influence factor' to see if this better captures the essence of the relationship. The last model takes the optimal model obtained and replaces the country related variables by a country fixed effect parameter to indirectly control for cultural effects.

The coefficients that result from the models represent the log odds which means that we can interpret them in the way that, significant positive coefficients indicate a higher probability of an observation to correspond to the higher categories of sustainable consumption, for higher values of the predictor. The reverse applies to negative coefficients. The threshold coefficients express the cumulative intercept indicating the base log-odds of belonging to category k or lower.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Model performance

The individual model performances and model coefficients are reported in Table 5 and Table 6 respectively. Table 5 shows that using both individual and country-level variables in model 3 compared to only

individual-level variables in model 1 improves the in-sample performance by reducing the AIC with more than 50 points and enhancing the log-likelihood with 30 points. Yet, out-of-sample performance cannot be stated to improve compared to the sole use of individual-level predictors. However, replacing the direct country-level variables with a country fixed effect parameter does increase out-of-sample performance. The highest accuracy of all was obtained with this model since a correct prediction was obtained for 42.7% of the out-of-sample cases. This performance is better than random guess as the latter is likely to generate an accuracy of 33.33%. Also, the in-sample performance is highest for this model which leads to the statement that model 7 is our optimal model. The model with the fixed effect parameter, therefore, outperforms the models with the direct control for macro-economic and socio-demographic factors which suggests that cultural factors also play an important role in the probability that a youngster will adopt sustainable consumption patterns.

The addition of the control variable turns out to be an improvement of the model since both in and out-ofsample performances of model 4 and 5 are higher compared to (1)-(3). Since (5) outperforms (4), especially on in-sample performance, it was decided to include the 'awareness factor' as the control variable in model 7. Lastly, replacing the social influence variables by the 'social influence factor' did not improve model performance. The improvement of the AIC value of 3 points that is observed, can be mostly explained by the fact that more variables are included in the factor than the total number of social influence variables. Consequently, the 'social influence factor' is not used for the estimation of model 7.

model	AIC	Log Likelihood	accuracy
1	8,077.11	-4,020.58	0.405
2	8,258.73	-4,123.37	0.336
3	8,025.47	-3,990.73	0.406
4	7,993.25	-3,970.63	0.415
5	7,985.73	-3,965.77	0.416
6	7,982.31	-3,971.62	0.398
7	7,913,37	-3,912.48	0.427

Table 5: In and out of sample performance of ordinal logit model on sustainable consumption

6.2.2 Proposition statement results

P1 suggests that the level of risk aversion affects the choice to involve in sustainable consumption. Table 6 shows that the coefficients of both *future pay-off* and *risk taking* are positive and significant across all 6 models that include these variables. Individuals that report higher willingness to give up utility today to receive some uncertain pay-off in the future have a higher likelihood to end up in the higher categories of

sustainable consumption, $\beta_{future \, pay-off} = 0.246$, P < 0.001. This probability is also higher for individuals that reported a higher willingness to take risks, $\beta_{risk \, taking} = 0.071$, P < 0.01.

P2 states that familiarization with extreme weather events contributes to the level of sustainable consumption of our respondents. According to (7), both the extent to which participants experienced extreme weather events and expect them in the future have a positive effect on the level of involvement in sustainable consumption, $\beta_{extreme weather experienced} = 0.061$, P < 0.05, $\beta_{extreme weather expected} = 0.125$, P < 0.001. Our results thereby support this proposition.

P3 suggests that the incorporation of sustainable consumption behaviour in a young individual's daily routine would lead to higher levels of *sustainable consumption*. Model (3)-(6) show significant positive relationships (P < 0.05, P < 0.01). Yet, this effect is cancelled out by adding the fixed effect parameter. For this reason, convincing support has not been found for the thought that stimulating sustainable behaviour to become part of an individual's daily routine will lead to higher levels of sustainable consumption.

Next, **P4** claims that young consumers' involvement in sustainable consumption is affected by social influence. (7) only shows that the extent to which young consumers learn about climate change from their parents is positively related to the probability to end up in higher categories of *sustainable consumption*, $\beta_{parents} = 0.097$, P < 0.001. At the same time, the extent to which participants learnt about climate change by watching the news reduces the probability of involving in higher *sustainable consumption* levels, $\beta_{news} = -0.062$, P < 0.05. Support for **P4** was therefore only found partly.

P5 claims a positive relationship between cognitive ability and the level of sustainable consumption by young consumers. Accordingly, (7) indicates a significant positive relationship between *mathematical skills* and *sustainable consumption*, $\beta_{mathematical skills} = 0.152$, P < 0.001. This means that the better a respondent reported to be at math, the higher the probability of this respondent to end up in the higher categories of the dependent variable. This outcome supports **P6**. Conversely, the level of English of the respondents has no significant effect according to (7).

Next, **P6** suggests a positive relationship between the financial situation of a participant and the level of *sustainable consumption* of this individual. Contrary to this, (7) shows that the better the reported financial state of the respondent, the lower the probability of involving in *sustainable consumption*, $\beta_{economic \ state \ factor} = -0.081$, P < 0.001. Therefore, we actually find evidence against **P7**.

Lastly, **P7** suggests that country related factors influence the level of *sustainable consumption*. As (5) is our best performing model that includes the direct country-related factors, we look at this model to assess the effects of the macro-economic and socio-demographic variables. Three out of four variables show significant relationships with our dependent variable. People from countries with a higher GDP per capita have a higher likelihood to involve in *sustainable consumption*, $\beta_{GDP/c} = 0.656$, P < 0.001. This variable is highly significant across (2)-(6). Contrarily, *government expenditure on education* and *life expectancy* show significant negative relationships with *sustainable consumption* across (2)-(6).

An alternative that was used for the investigation of proposition 7 is to add a fixed effect that allows the thresholds to vary per country. This allows us to not only control for macro-economic and sociodemographic variables but also cultural effects. This component was introduced in (7). When looking at the threshold parameters in Table 6, vast differences in odds can be observed between countries. The thresholds for Argentina are missing in the model since it was included as the base country in the intercept. Without the individual factors, it can be observed that the odds to involve in sustainable consumption are vastly higher for people from countries like Australia, Austria and Bangladesh, $\beta_{1|2(Australia)} = 1.287$, $\beta_{1|2(Austria)} = 1.040$, $\beta_{1|2(Bangladesh)} = 1.094$. Furthermore, $\beta_{0|1(Andorra)} = 0.388$, which is the largest value for this threshold of all countries. This implies that youngsters from Andorra have higher odds to involve in sustainable consumption when individual factors are not taken into account. All in all, both (2)-(6) and (7) confirm that country related factors have a relationship with the level of sustainable consumption.

6.3 Scale parameter

As stated above, the model with the fixed effect outperforms the models that directly control for the macroeconomic, and socio-demographic factors. Therefore, the likelihood is present that the decision to adopt sustainable consumption patterns is affected by cultural factors. The fixed effect parameter already allowed to control for this effect indirectly but the exact nature of this effect remains obscure. Another way to think of cultural factors is to assume that the individual-level relationships work out differently among various cultures. For example, it would be reasonable to think that the effect of social influence is dissimilar for countries with different religions. One way to control for this is to replace the fixed effect by another multilevel component in the form of a scale parameter which allows the coefficients in our model to vary for each country. The results of this operation are displayed in Table 7 in Appendix B. Yet, as discussed before, these results are rather quite restrictive as only one country-related scale parameter is applied to all coefficients. Additionally, the total number of countries in our training set is too small to obtain accurate variance estimates. Also, the fact that only a relatively small number of observations is available for a couple of countries complicates the act of finding separate scale effects for each covariate. Still, we show the results of adding this parameter to analyze the potential existence of inconstant coefficients.

The results in Table 7 indeed point to the verification of this assumption. That is, respondents from Lebanon appear to have a significantly different scale, $\zeta_{Lebanon} = -1.193 P < 0.01$. This results in exp(-1.193) = 0.30. The scale parameter for Argentina is missing from the model since this country is used as the baseline. this implies that Lebanese respondents tend to have a lower probability to involve in higher levels of *sustainable consumption* compared to respondents from Argentina under ceteris paribus conditions as the parameter corresponds to a lower scale of 70%. Still, we cannot be certain of the validity of this result as Lebanon contains only 50 observations.

For other countries, no indication exists that the scale of the coefficients is any different from those of individuals from Argentina.

6.4 Robustness

To check if our results are not vulnerable to small changes in our data we check the robustness employing two methods. With the first one, we will control for any alteration in our results when independent variables are changed and control variables are added. In Table 6, seven alternatives to our model are presented. It can be observed that with every modification, only slight changes occur in our coefficients. At the same time, the significance of our coefficients does not alter. These conclusions point to the fact that our findings are quite robust.

Second, the robustness of our results is verified by comparing Table 6 with various descriptive statistics that are reported in Appendix C. Figure 7 contains boxplots that show the distribution over our significant independent variables for each level of sustainable consumption for the entire population. For most coefficients, it can be observed that observations corresponding to category 2 are concentrated at higher levels of the independent variables. This provides us with an argument to claim that those coefficients are quite robust. Yet, the differences in distribution between categories of sustainable consumption are harder to observe for *extreme weather experienced, mathematical skills*, and the *economic state factor*. For this reason, we are less certain that robustness also applies to these coefficients.

			Dependent vari	iable:		
-		1	sustainable consu			
	(1) (2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
future pay-off	0.275***	0.277***	0.242***	0.224***	0.222***	0.246***
	(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.037)
risk taking	0.096***	0.090***	0.096***	0.085**	0.080**	0.071**
	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
extreme weather experienced	0.083***	0.078**	0.065**	0.061*	0.064**	0.061*
externe weather experienced	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)
extreme weather expected	0.212***	0 199***	0 177***	0 155***	0.150***	0.125***
entreme neueron enpeeted	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.034)
daily routine	0.048	0.061*	0.061*	0.067**	0.075**	0.051
parte se com - La actor e vez a de evenes - L	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)
awareness of others	0.041	0.014	0.013	-0.004		-0.024
	(0.038)	(0.039)	(0.039)	(0.039)		(0.040)
others willingness to spend money	-0.057	-0.039	-0.038	-0.024		-0.003
	(0.038)	(0.039)	(0.039)	(0.039)		(0.039)
teachers	-0.058*	-0.056^{*}	-0.041	-0.037		-0.056
	(0.033)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.034)		(0.034)
parents	0.099***	0.070**	0.081**	0.092***		0.097***
parents	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.036)		(0.036)
friends	-0.021	-0.019	-0.028	-0.042		-0.043
	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)		(0.036)
other people	-0.006	-0.003	-0.017	-0.028		-0.025
• •	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.032)		(0.032)
	0.07.4**	-0.059^{*}	-0.069**	-0.080^{***}		-0.062^{**}
news	(0.030)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)		(0.031)
	0.027	-0.036	-0.037	-0.036		-0.022
movies	(0.032)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)		(0.033)
					-0.087***	
social influence factor					(0.028)	
lactor		0.152***	0.159***	0.150***	0.160***	0 152***
mathematics skills	0.158*** (0.031)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)
		0.106***	0.076**	0.054	0.049	0.044
English knowledge	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.037)
	0.000***	-0.096***	-0.078***	-0.078^{***}	-0.077***	-0.081***
economic state factor	(0.029)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)
14.051	0.660***	0 588***	0.651***	0.656***	0.694***	
GDP/c	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.096)	(0.096)	(0.095)	
	-0.476***	-0.425***	-0.499***	-0.505^{***}	-0.512^{***}	
government expenditure on education	(0.074)	(0.076)	(0.080)	(0.080)	(0.079)	
	-0.411***	-0.341***	-0.339***	-0.335^{***}	-0.357^{***}	
life expectancy	(0.051)	(0.053)	(0.053)	(0.053)	(0.052)	
	0.023	0.001	0.023	0.025	0.020	
urban population	(0.045)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.046)	

Table 6: Ordinal logit model coefficients on sustainable consumption

Observations Log Likelihood	$3,801 \\ -4,020.557$	$3,801 \\ -4,123.367$	3,801 -3,990.734	3,801 -3,970.627	$3,801 \\ -3,965.767$	$3,801 \\ -3,971.618$	$3,801 \\ -3,912.481$
1—2 USA							-0.206 (0.412)
0—1 USA							-0.725 (0.405)
$1{}2$ The Netherlands							0.351 (0.441)
$0{-\!\!-\!}1$ The Netherlands							-0.209 (0.431)
1—2 Lebanon							(0.622)
U-1 Lebanon							(1.108)
0 1 Laborer							(0.637) -2 397
1—2 Bangladesh							(0.531) 1.053
0—1 Bangladesh							-0.060
1—2 Austria							1.073
0—1 Austria							0.387 (0.416)
1—2 Australia							(0.683)
o a Australia							(0.588)
0-1 Australia							(0.434) -0.440
1—2 Armenia							-0.100
0—1 Armenia							-0.619 (0.430)
1-2 Antigua and Barbuda							(0.082) (0.427)
0-1 Antigua and Barbuda							(0.423)
0 1 Antique and Perkuda							(0.422) -0.686
1—2 Angola							-0.047
0—1 Angola							-0.471
1—2 Andorra							0.680 (0.457)
0—1 Andorra							(0.432)
2 2 4 1	(0.036)	(0.035)	(0.037)	(0.043)	(0.040)	(0.047)	0.380
(intercept) 1—2	0.768	0.710	0.802	0.745	0.749	0.707	0.610
(intercept) $0-1$	-0.809 (0.037)	-0.800 - (0.036)	-0.795 (0.037)	-0.904 (0.049)	-0.903 (0.049)	-0.822 (0.048)	-0.484 (0.402)
thresholds:							
male				-0.209^{***} (0.067)	-0.193^{***} (0.068)	-0.179^{***} (0.067)	-0.216^{***} (0.069)
				(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.035)
age				0.005	0.008	0.008	0.031
awareness factor					0.191*** (0.032)	0.175^{***} (0.031)	0.140^{***} (0.033)
awareness				0.214^{***} (0.042)			

Note:

*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001

7. Conclusions

This section will start with a general discussion of the results in which we will provide an interpretation of our findings and make a link to previous literature. This part will be followed by a discussion of the academic and societal relevance. Lastly, the limitations of this research will be discussed and ideas on future research will be provided.

7.1 General discussion

The performance of this research served the principal goal of answering the research question: *Which factors contribute to a higher likelihood of sustainable consumption behaviour in terms of meat consumption and water utilization by current younger generations?*

Several propositions have been stated that supported the investigation of the effects of seven different factors that were divided among the individual- and country-level. By applying an ordinal logit model with a scale parameter on a survey enriched by country-related variables, evidence was found for the validation of four out of seven propositions. On the individual level, it appears that lower levels of risk aversion, past experience and expectation of extreme weather events, mathematical skills and the extent to which youngsters received information from their parents about climate change all have a positive effect on their level of sustainable consumption. It also appears that youngsters from countries with a higher GDP have a higher probability to adopt sustainable consumption behaviours. Lastly, results were found that indicate a likelihood that culture influences the choice to adopt sustainable alternatives. An elaboration on these findings is provided in the sections below.

7.1.1 Validated propositions

On the individual level, evidence was found that youngsters who are less risk-averse have a higher likelihood of at least reducing either meat or water consumption. As Weber (2010) stated, sustainable consumption often involves an uncertain future pay-off. As most consumers tend to be risk-averse (Kahneman, Knetsch and Thaler, 1991) this outcome indicates a problem. To make sure that more risk-averse youngsters will also adopt pro-environmental behaviour it is important that the level of uncertainty, and thereby perceived risk, will be reduced. This can be done by communicating clear examples of benefits for youngsters to be better able to visualize future rewards.

Second, it was found that youngsters who have experienced extreme weather events in the past, as well as those who expect to face extreme weather events in the future, have a higher probability to adopt sustainable consumption. This implies that having a picture of a possible outcome available in one's mind helps in

stimulating sustainable consumption behaviour. The idea that future effects need to be tangible (White, Habib and Hardisty, 2019) is therefore verified. If governments or managers want to push society towards more sustainable consumption alternatives, a tangible picture needs to be created in the mind of consumers. Since the effect of expectation of future extreme weather events is bigger than those coming from past experiences, we conclude that this picture does not necessarily need to come from involvement in past events to be effective. An effective tangible picture can also be created by spreading knowledge on extreme weather events via media like the news, social media or education.

Third, our results support the thought that youngsters with higher cognitive ability are more likely to adopt sustainable consumption patterns. Individuals with higher cognitive skills might be better able to understand the future consequences that climate change might have and are better able to see the impact of their own actions. This supports the claim of Shields, Šolar and Martin (2002) who argue that incentives provided by the government to stimulate pro-environmental behaviour are only effective when individuals can understand them. Consequently, our finding shows that governments should design their message in such a way that also people with less cognitive ability can understand the problem and solutions.

Previous findings also show that the number of years of educational attendance is positively related to proenvironmental consumption (Meyer, 2015). However, we do not find support for the effect of education itself since no significant relationship was found between the extent to which youngsters learned about climate change from teachers and their level of involvement in sustainable consumption.

On the country level, evidence was found that a country's GDP is positively related to the level of involvement in sustainable consumption. This finding points towards the statement of Sill (1975), and Broad and Cavanagh (1993) that developed countries take more actions against climate change than developing countries.

However, contrasting findings were reported when it comes to government expenditure on education and life expectancy. That is, both show a negative relationship with sustainable consumption. Since either higher educational expenditure and life expectancy are associated with prosperous countries (Bose et al., 2007), these findings contrast with our earlier results that indicate a positive effect of a country's GDP. This means that no conclusive results are found that support either the claim that people from developed countries take more actions against climate change or the people from developing countries, as argued by Schneider (1988), Livernash (1992), and Brechin and Kempton (1994).

The second part of our investigation on the effect of country-level factors included the addition of multilevel extensions to our model. As the number of cases in our sample was too limited to obtain reliable scale effect

parameters, our main model contained a multilevel component in the form of a fixed effect that allowed the category thresholds to vary per country. Clear differences in thresholds were observed between countries. Under ceteris paribus conditions, probabilities to reduce meat and/or water consumption are higher for youngsters from Australia, Austria and Bangladesh compared to other countries. At the same time, youngsters from Andorra have the highest probability not to adopt one of the sustainable practices under the same conditions. As the model with the fixed effect component out-performs the model that directly controls for macro-economic and socio-demographic variables, we find support for an effect that is caused by culture.

All in all, the above-stated results indeed show that country-related factors matter for the adoption of proenvironmental practices. The role of governments is therefore definitely of importance when it comes to the stimulation of pro-environmentalism. Yet, the finding of potential cultural effects also highlights a challenge since cultural characteristics are hard to change (Huntington, 1993). Nevertheless, the change of cultural values is possible with the right governmental efforts (Inglehart and Baker, 2000)

To obtain extra support for the existence of cultural effects the fixed effect was replaced by the scale effect. The relationships between our independent variables and sustainable consumption are different for Lebanese youngsters compared to those from other countries. Since this model extension allowed to control for macro-economic and socio-demographic factors directly, we can argue that this difference is mainly caused by cultural characteristics. However, we cannot be certain about the reliability of these results as our data does not meet the multilevel model requirements that were identified by Browne and Draper (2000). Still, since general consumption patterns have already been shown to be influenced by culture (Shaw and Clarke, 1998), especially when it comes to food (Dubé et al., 2005), we call for a further investigation on the exact nature of these cultural effects.

7.1.2 Non-validated propositions

Unfortunately, we could not find support for all our propositions. First of all, it has been expected that the individual economic state of consumers positively impacts the level of sustainable consumption of young consumers. However, the opposite has been observed. This could possibly be clarified by the thought that individuals adopt more sustainable consumption patterns to actually save money. Looking from the perspective of reduced meat and water consumption we could remind ourselves that meat is a relatively expensive good, and households energy costs will decrease by using less water. At the same time, it could still be the case that the economic state of consumers has a positive relationship with other forms of sustainable consumption in green-electricity programmes (Clark, Kotchen and Moore,

2003). Possibly, because these programmes are generally more expensive than ordinary ones (Clark et al., 2003).

Second, for the reason that Moretti (2011) and Howland, Hunger and Mann (2012) found strong relationships between the social environment and the consumption pattern of youngsters, it was assumed that this would also apply to sustainable consumption. Yet, no evidence was found that the level of sustainable consumption of the respondents got impacted by the behaviour of peers. We only find that the information they get from parents has a significant impact. This means that parents are an important medium to promote higher levels of pro-environmental consumption. Contrasting to this, the results show that using the news for this purpose is likely to have the opposite effect. One possible hypothesis could be that the news triggers free-riding behaviour since it creates the feeling that climate change is a problem for the entire society and not so much for the self (Krishnan et al., 2004; White, Habib and Hardisty, 2019). Consequently, this medium should not be used to incentivize youngsters to adopt more pro-environmental practices.

Lastly, we could not find proof of the proposition that incorporating pro-environmental consumption patterns in a young individual's daily routine leads to higher levels of sustainable consumption as the relationship got cancelled out by the fixed effect. This indicates that the routine behaviours are likely to be related to someone's culture which causes the effect to be captured by cultural factors. Stimulating the incorporation of pro-environmental practices in the daily routines of youngsters is therefore only likely to be effective in certain cultures.

7.2 Academic relevance

Our study contributes to the academic research that has been executed about the drivers behind sustainable consumption behaviour. Our work enriches the empirical research on this topic which has been observed to be limited up until today. By analyzing different characteristics at the individual-level we provide new insights in what type of young consumers adopt sustainable consumption patterns and hereby give empirical support for the existing theories about potential ways to close the observed attitude-behaviour gap (Vermeir and Verbeke, 2006; Frederiks, Stenner and Hobman, 2015). Also, by focusing on the act of reducing both meat and water consumption we use a broader definition of sustainable consumption than most other empirical studies which offers better ground for generalization of the concept.

Furthermore, by looking at country-related factors we complement earlier research about differences in sustainable consumption patterns across countries. Even though we do not find closure on the discussion whether developed or developing countries show higher levels of sustainable consumption patterns, we

enrich this field of research with the incorporation of socio-demographic factors. Moreover, we open up a new area of research in this domain by introducing the potential role of culture in the sustainable consumption patterns of young consumers.

Lastly, the statement of seven different propositions provides new angles for research that wants to investigate the drivers behind pro-environmental behaviour for other types of consumer groups or that wants to focus on specific countries.

7.3 Managerial and political relevance

Today, climate change has been recognized as a serious problem in many countries worldwide. Most countries have set multiple climate goals and are looking for various measures that could be taken to reach them. Political institutions can use our findings to determine which types of nudges are likely to be effective in stimulating pro-environmental behaviours of the younger generations in society. Also, effective mediums can be assessed. We have noted that the group of young consumers is especially important since they will live longest on earth and will raise the next generations. This means that changing the lifestyle of this group into a more sustainable one is likely to have the biggest impact.

Because of the large scale influence that companies generally have on the behaviour of society (MacGuire, 1963; Whetten et al., 2002), they are pushed by governments to adopt a more pro-environmental way of doing business (Albareda et al., 2007). However, for companies to adopt sustainable business practices, significant demand for this is needed from below (Cuomo, 2011). For this reason, the attitude-behaviour gap of consumers causes a problem for society and for managers who face rules by the government that forces them to take action. This research can support managers in finding the right ways to promote their message of being a pro-environmental business and to find the right target groups among younger generations of consumers. Since this research directly investigates the drivers behind youngsters' reducing their meat consumption, our findings are especially useful for companies that bring meat substitutes to the market. They can use our study to determine the right marketing message for the right target group.

7.4 Limitations and further research

This study has been prone to several limitations. In this part, we will discuss the several constraints of our research and add some visions on how future research could overcome these. Extra alternatives for future research will be provided that could not be covered by our analysis.

7.4.1 Data limitations

The first constraints of this study are already imposed during the data collection process. The survey has been spread via Facebook which means that the possible participants were already limited to those who had access to this medium. Next, it is plausible to think that there is a certain sample bias among the participants since Facebook as a medium usually targets the audience that is most likely to be interested in the survey topic. On top of that, the audience could share the survey with people from their inner circle. Those people have a higher likelihood to share similar thoughts resulting in a population bias.

Another limitation arises from the fact that the survey was only available in English. For this reason, potential participants were only targeted across countries for which the Facebook default language was English. This caused us having to exclude many countries from our analysis. Another result of the survey being only available in English is that automatically a pre-selection was made of participants who were comfortable with this language. This means that there is a higher likelihood of higher educated people to take part in the survey. This results in another possible sample selection bias. For this reason, future research should make sure that the survey is available in multiple languages and use at least other media next to Facebook to reach the target audience.

The fact that participants did not have to answer all questions of the survey adds another limitation to this study. Many observations were omitted due to missing data which resulted in the loss of a lot of information. This loss of information was reinforced by the fact that observations from countries with less than 50 respondents got removed from the dataset. Consequently, the study was limited to the analysis of only twelve different nations of which numbers of observations were also unequally divided. To broaden our knowledge on the relationship between country-related factors and levels of sustainable consumption, future research should incorporate a vast variety of new nations and try to balance the number of respondents per nation.

Lastly, because our data comes from an online survey, the variables in our dataset are self-reported. This results in the fact that the data in our study are subjective and prone to bias. That is, certainty is not guaranteed that answers were given in full honesty by our respondents. For example, youngsters could find it confronting to report low levels of financial well-being or to report that they did not do any effort to save our planet from climate change. Hence, caution should be taken when generalizing the conclusions of our study.

7.4.2 Research method

A drawback of the cumulative link model is that it is hard to interpret the θ_k values directly as these indicate the intercept of the odds that an observation belongs to category k or smaller rather than to one category in specific. This problem could have been overcome by estimating separate general linear logit models for each class of k. Yet, it was believed that using the cumulative link model was more suitable for the analysis at hand since all relationships were combined in one model. Besides, merging the two different types of sustainable consumption led to the creation of an ordinal variable. The proportional odds model can capture this ordinal nature whereas application of separate general linear logit models is not.

Furthermore, by using the cumulative logit model with a fixed effect parameter we were only able to capture the country effects related to culture by varying the thresholds between countries. It would have been more insightful to add a multilevel component that would have provided us with separate coefficient estimates for each country. Nonetheless, as stated before, our survey data did not meet the requirements that were needed for this model. Efforts should be made in future research to extend this dataset by acquiring more observations for the countries that were left out. Also, one should aim to acquire more observations for the countries that currently contained <100 cases to be certain of reliable estimates.

7.4.3 Missed relationships

As our research depended on an existing survey, there exists a variety of possible factors that contribute to the adoption of sustainable consumption patterns that could not be measured. For example, Griskevicius, Tybur and Van den Bergh (2010) find that an important reason for consumers to choose a sustainable alternative in a public shopping environment is that it communicates higher social status. This finding points to self-interest, which is reported as being another possible driver (De Dominicis, Schultz and Bonaiuto, 2017). Additionally, political beliefs have proven to influence consumption behaviour which is also likely to apply to sustainable alternatives (Hart and Nisbet, 2012; Gromet, Kunreuther and Larrick, 2013). This provides a reason for new studies to investigate the effect of these factors that not have been discussed in the research at hand.

7.4.4 New areas of research

The study at hand has defined sustainable consumption as the reduction of meat and water consumption. Yet, many other types of sustainable consumption practices could be thought of like the implementation of solar panels (Spaargaren, 2003) or taking part in the sharing economy (Cohen and Munoz, 2016). Hence, new areas of research could investigate whether our results could also be generalized to these forms of pro-environmental behaviour.

Next, our analysis only covered consumers in the age range of 13 to 24. Future research could enrich our results by studying the factors that drive sustainable consumption behaviour for older generations. As the information on climate change that was provided by parents shows to have a significant impact on the adoption of pro-environmental behaviour of youngsters, targeting older generations seems of importance.

Lastly, the results of this research hint for the likely existence of cultural influences on sustainable consumption patterns. However, these effects could not be quantified directly. This study, therefore, opens up a new area of research that focusses on investigating the exact effects that culture can have on the adoption of sustainable consumption patterns. Future research could focus on creating measures for these cultural effects and subsequently modelling these relationships.

Besides, this study focused on the culture within country borders. Though, cultural groups can also exist that go beyond these borders. For example, one should think of religions or (pro-environmental) social-movements that can also influence sustainable consumption behaviour. Facing the ongoing globalization, the relationship between these groups and sustainable consumption can even be more interesting than just looking at countries. By replacing the cumulative link model by a mixture model, future research can be devoted to discovering these groups and their corresponding relationships to pro-environmental consumption behaviour.

References

Abrahamse, W., & Steg, L. (2013). Social influence approaches to encourage resource conservation: A meta-analysis. *Global environmental change*, *23*(6), 1773-1785.

Agresti, A., & Natarajan, R. (2001). Modeling clustered ordered categorical data: A survey. *International Statistical Review*, 69(3), 345-371.

Albareda, L., Lozano, J. M., & Ysa, T. (2007). Public policies on corporate social responsibility: The role of governments in Europe. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 74(4), 391-407.

Anderson, J. A. (1984). Regression and ordered categorical variables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 46(1), 1-22.

Ariely, D. (2008). Predictably irrational. New York, NY: Harper Audio.

Bala, G., Caldeira, K., Wickett, M., Phillips, T. J., Lobell, D. B., Delire, C., & Mirin, A. (2007). Combined climate and carbon-cycle effects of large-scale deforestation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(16), 6550-6555.

Bamberg, S. (2006). Is a residential relocation a good opportunity to change people's travel behavior? Results from a theory-driven intervention study. *Environment and* behavior, 38(6), 820-840.

Barnosky, A. (2009). *Heatstroke: Nature in an age of global warming*. Washington, D.C.: Island Press

- Becker, G. S. (1962). Irrational behavior and economic theory. *Journal of political* economy, 70(1), 1-13.
- Berrang-Ford, L., Ford, J. D., & Paterson, J. (2011). Are we adapting to climate change?. *Global environmental change*, 21(1), 25-33.
- Bose, N., Haque, M. E., & Osborn, D. R. (2007). Public expenditure and economic growth: A disaggregated analysis for developing countries. *The Manchester School*, 75(5), 533-556.
- Boulstridge, E., & Carrigan, M. (2000). Do consumers really care about corporate responsibility? Highlighting the attitude-behaviour gap. *Journal of communication management*, 4(4), 355-368.

Boyes, W. J., Hoffman, D. L., & Low, S. A. (1989). An econometric analysis of the bank credit scoring problem. *Journal of Econometrics*, 40(1), 3-14.

Bradley, Bethany A., Michael Oppenheimer, and David S. Wilcove. 2010. Climate change increases risk of plant invasion in the eastern United States. *Biological Invasions* 12 (6): 1855–72.

Brechin, S. R., & Bhandari, M. (2011). Perceptions of climate change worldwide. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 2(6), 871-885.

Brechin, S. R., & Kempton, W. (1994). Global environmentalism: a challenge to the postmaterialism thesis?. *Social science quarterly*, *75*(2), 245-269.

Breen, R., & Luijkx, R. (2010). Mixture models for ordinal data. *Sociological methods & research*, *39*(1), 3-24.

Broad, R., & Cavanagh, J. (1993). *Plundering paradise: The struggle for the environment in the Philippines*. Univ of California Press.

Brough, A. R., Wilkie, J. E., Ma, J., Isaac, M. S., & Gal, D. (2016). Is eco-friendly unmanly? The green-feminine stereotype and its effect on sustainable consumption. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 43(4), 567-582.

Brown, B. B., Werner, C. M., & Kim, N. (2003). Personal and contextual factors supporting the switch to transit use: Evaluating a natural transit intervention. *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy*, *3*(1), 139-160.

Browne, W. J., & Draper, D. (2000). Implementation and performance issues in the Bayesian and likelihood fitting of multilevel models. *Computational Statistics*, 15, 391–420.

Caminiti, S. (1992). The payoff from a good reputation. Fortune, 125(3), 74-77.

Carrete, L., Castaño, R., Felix, R., Centeno, E., & González, E. (2012). Green consumer behavior in an emerging economy: confusion, credibility, and compatibility. *Journal of consumer marketing*.

Chapman, C., & Feit, E. M. (2015). *R for marketing research and analytics* (p. 195e223). New York, NY: Springer.

Chib, S., & Greenberg, E. (1998). Analysis of Multivariate Probit Models. *Biometrika*, 85(2), 347-361. Retrieved June 28, 2020, from www.jstor.org/stable/2337362

Christensen, R. H. B. (2018). Cumulative link models for ordinal regression with the R package Ordinal. *Submitted in J. Stat. Software*.

Cialdini, R. B., Demaine, L. J., Sagarin, B. J., Barrett, D. W., Rhoads, K., & Winter, P. L. (2006). Managing social norms for persuasive impact. *Social influence*, *1*(1), 3-15.

Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, *55*, 591-621.

Cialdini, R. B., Kallgren, C. A., & Reno, R. R. (1991). A focus theory of normative conduct: A theoretical refinement and reevaluation of the role of norms in human behavior. In Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 24, pp. 201-234). Academic Press.

Clark, C. F., Kotchen, M. J., & Moore, M. R. (2003). Internal and external influences on proenvironmental behavior: Participation in a green electricity program. *Journal of environmental psychology*, 23(3), 237-246.

Clonan, A., Roberts, K. E., & Holdsworth, M. (2016). Socioeconomic and demographic drivers of red and processed meat consumption: implications for health and environmental sustainability. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 75(3), 367-373. Cohen, B., & Munoz, P. (2016). Sharing cities and sustainable consumption and production: towards an integrated framework. *Journal of cleaner production*, 134, 87-97.

- Corbella, H. M., & i Pujol, D. S. (2009). What lies behind domestic water use?: a review essay on the drivers of domestic water consumption. *BAGE: Boletín de la Asociación de Geógrafos Españoles*, (50), 297-314.
- Cox, D. R. (1972), "Regression Models and Life Tables" (with discussion), *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, Ser. B, 34, 187-220.

Cuomo, C. J. (2011). Climate change, vulnerability, and responsibility. Hypatia, 26(4), 690-714.

Day, N. E. (1969). Estimating the components of a mixture of normal distributions. *Biometrika*, 56(3), 463-474.

De Dominicis, S., Schultz, P., & Bonaiuto, M. (2017). Protecting the environment for self-

interested reasons: altruism is not the only pathway to sustainability. *Frontiers in psychology*, 8, 1065.

Demidenko, E. (2013). Mixed models: theory and applications with R. John Wiley & Sons.

De Silva, D. G., & Pownall, R. A. (2014). Going green: does it depend on education, gender or income?. *Applied Economics*, 46(5), 573-586.

DiClemente, D. F., & Hantula, D. A. (2003). Applied behavioral economics and consumer choice. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 24(5), 589-602.

Dubé, L., LeBel, J. L., & Lu, J. (2005). Affect asymmetry and comfort food consumption. *Physiology & behavior*, 86(4), 559-567.

Durning, A. B. (1989). Action at the Grassroots: Fighting Poverty and Environmental Decline. Worldwatch Paper 88. Worldwatch Institute, 1776 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20036.

England, P., Farkas, G., Kilbourne, B. S., & Dou, T. (1988). Explaining occupational sex segregation and wages: Findings from a model with fixed effects. *American Sociological Review*, 544-558.

Ertz, M., Karakas, F., & Sarigöllü, E. (2016). Exploring pro-environmental behaviors of consumers: An analysis of contextual factors, attitude, and behaviors. *Journal of Business* Research, 69(10), 3971-3980.

Frederiks, E. R., Stenner, K., & Hobman, E. V. (2015). Household energy use: Applying behavioural economics to understand consumer decision-making and behaviour. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *41*, 1385-1394.

Gigerenzer, G. E., Hertwig, R. E., & Pachur, T. E. (2011). *Heuristics: The foundations of adaptive behavior*. Oxford University Press.

Griskevicius, V., Tybur, J. M., & Van den Bergh, B. (2010). Going green to be seen: status, reputation, and conspicuous conservation. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 98(3), 392. Gromet, D. M., Kunreuther, H., & Larrick, R. P. (2013). Political ideology affects energyefficiency attitudes and choices. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(23), 9314-9319.

Goldstein, N. J., Cialdini, R. B., & Griskevicius, V. (2008). A room with a viewpoint: Using social norms to motivate environmental conservation in hotels. *Journal of consumer Research*, *35*(3), 472-482.

Gorke, M. (2003). *The death of our planet's species: A challenge to ecology and ethics.* Washington, D.C.: Island Press.

Green, T., & Peloza, J. (2014). Finding the right shade of green: The effect of advertising appeal type on environmentally friendly consumption. *Journal of Advertising*, *43*(2), 128-141.

Guan, D., Hubacek, K., Weber, C. L., Peters, G. P., & Reiner, D. M. (2008). The drivers of CO2 emissions from 1980 to 2030. *Global Environmental Change*, *18*(4), 626-634.

Han, Tae-Im and Leslie Stoel (2017), "Explaining Socially Responsible Consumer Behavior: A Meta-Analytic Review of Theory of Planned Behavior," *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 29 (2), 91–103.

Hardisty, D. J., & Weber, E. U. (2009). Discounting future green: money versus the environment. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 138(3), 329.

Hart, P. S., & Nisbet, E. C. (2012). Boomerang effects in science communication: How motivated reasoning and identity cues amplify opinion polarization about climate mitigation policies. *Communication research*, 39(6), 701-723

Holt, C. A., & Laury, S. K. (2002). Risk aversion and incentive effects. *American economic review*, 92(5), 1644-1655.

Howland, M., Hunger, J. M., & Mann, T. (2012). Friends don't let friends eat cookies: Effects of restrictive eating norms on consumption among friends. *Appetite*, *59*(2), 505-509.

Huntington, S. P. (1993). The clash of civilizations. Foreign affairs, 72(3), 22-49.

- Inglehart, R. (1992). Public support for environmental protection: objective problems and subjective values. *paper presented at the American Political Science Association, Chicago*.
- Inglehart, R., & Baker, W. E. (2000). Modernization, cultural change, and the persistence of traditional values. *American sociological review*, 19-51.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2007. Climate change 2007: Synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. Core Writing Team, Rajendra K. Pachauri and Andy Reisinger. Geneva: IPCC.

IPCC, 2013: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

Jamelske, E., Barrett, J., & Boulter, J. (2013). Comparing climate change awareness, perceptions, and beliefs of college students in the United States and China. *Journal of Environmental* Studies and Sciences, 3(3), 269-278.

Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1991). Anomalies: The endowment effect, loss aversion, and status quo bias. *Journal of Economic perspectives*, 5(1), 193-206.

Kahneman, D., Slovic, S. P., Slovic, P., & Tversky, A. (Eds.). (1982). Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases. Cambridge university press.

Kaiser, H. F. (1958). The varimax criterion for analytic rotation in factor analysis. *Psychometrika*, 23(3), 187-200.

KidsRights. (2020). *About KidsRights*. Retrieved from kidsrights.org: https://kidsrights.org/nl/over-kidsrights/organisatie/

Krishnan, R., Smith, M. D., Tang, Z., & Telang, R. (2004, January). The impact of free-riding on peer-topeer networks. *In 37th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System* Sciences, 2004. *Proceedings of the (pp. 10-pp).* IEEE.

Krystallis, A., Grunert, K. G., de Barcellos, M. D., Perrea, T., & Verbeke, W. (2012). Consumer attitudes towards sustainability aspects of food production: Insights from three continents. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 28(3-4), 334-372.

Lebel, L. (2013). Local knowledge and adaptation to climate change in natural resource-based societies of the Asia-Pacific. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, *18*(7), 1057-1076.

Lee, T. M., Markowitz, E. M., Howe, P. D., Ko, C. Y., & Leiserowitz, A. A. (2015). Predictors of public climate change awareness and risk perception around the world. *Nature climate change*, 5(11), 1014-1020.

Livernash, R. (1992). The growing influence of NGOs in the developing world. *Environment:* Science and Policy for Sustainable Development, 34(5), 12-43.

Maas, C. J., & Hox, J. J. (2005). Sufficient sample sizes for multilevel modeling. *Methodology*, 1(3), 86-92.

MacGuire, J. W. (1963). Business and society. Ardent Media.

- McCullagh, P. (1980). Regression models for ordinal data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 42(2), 109-127.
- Meyer, A. (2015). Does education increase pro-environmental behavior? Evidence from Europe. *Ecological economics*, 116, 108-121.
- Moretti, E. (2011). Social learning and peer effects in consumption: Evidence from movie sales. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 78(1), 356-393.

O'Brien, K. L., & Leichenko, R. M. (2000). Double exposure: assessing the impacts of climate change within the context of economic globalization. *Global environmental change*, *10*(3), 221-232.

Olson, J. G., McFerran, B., Morales, A. C., & Dahl, D. W. (2016). Wealth and welfare: Divergent moral reactions to ethical consumer choices. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 42(6), 879-896.

Ortega, E. M., Bolfarine, H., & Paula, G. A. (2003). Influence diagnostics in generalized logregression models. *Computational statistics & data analysis*, 42(1-2), 165-186.

Ortiz-de-Mandojana, N., & Bansal, P. (2016). The long-term benefits of organizational resilience through sustainable business practices. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*(8), 1615-1631.

Paehlke, R. C. (1989). Environmentalism and the future of progressive politics. New Haven.

Peterson, B., & Harrell Jr, F. E. (1990). Partial proportional odds models for ordinal response variables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics)*, 39(2), 205-217.

Pereira Heath, M. T., & Chatzidakis, A. (2012). 'Blame it on marketing': consumers' views on unsustainable consumption. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, *36*(6), 656-667.

Porter M, Kramer M. 2011. Creating Shared Value. Harvard Business Review, 89(1/2): 62-77

Price, J. C., & Leviston, Z. (2014). Predicting pro-environmental agricultural practices: the social, psychological and contextual influences on land management. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 34, 65-78.

Reczek, R. W., Trudel, R., & White, K. (2018). Focusing on the forest or the trees: How abstract versus concrete construal level predicts responses to eco-friendly products. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *57*, 87-98.

Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E. F., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). A safe operating space for humanity. *nature*, *461*(7263), 472-475.

Scannell, L., & Gifford, R. (2013). Personally relevant climate change: The role of place attachment and local versus global message framing in engagement. *Environment and Behavior*, 45(1), 60-85.

Schneider, B. (1988). *The barefoot revolution: a report to the Club of Rome*. Intermediate Technology Publications.

Schultz, P. W., J. M. Nolan, R. B. Cialdini, N. J. Goldstein, and Vladas G. (2007), "The Constructive, Destructive, and Reconstructive Power of Social Norms," *Psychological Science*, 18 (5), 429–34.

Schultz, P. W., Zelezny, L. & Dalrymple, N. J. A multinational perspective on the relation between Judeo-Christian religious beliefs and attitudes of environmental concern. *Environ. Behav.* 32, 576–591 (2000).

Scott, J. (2000). Rational choice theory. Understanding contemporary society: Theories of the present, 129, 671-85.

Scruggs, L. & Benegal, S. Declining public concern about climate change: Can we blame the great recession? Glob. Environ. Change-Hum. Policy Dimens. 22, 505–515 (2012).

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. 2010. *Global biodiversity outlook 3— Executive summary*. Montreal

Shaw, D. S., & Clarke, I. (1998). Culture, consumption and choice: towards a conceptual relationship. *Journal of Consumer Studies & Home Economics*, 22(3), 163-168.

Shields, D. J., Šolar, S. V., & Martin, W. E. (2002). The role of values and objectives in communicating indicators of sustainability. *Ecological Indicators*, 2(1-2), 149-160.

Sill, C. W. (1975). Some problems in measuring plutonium in the environment. *Health physics*, 29(4), 619-626.

Simon, H. A. (1955). A behavioral model of rational choice. *The quarterly journal of economics*, *69*(1), 99-118.

Snijders, T. A., & Bosker, R. J. (2011). *Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling.* Sage.

Spaargaren, G. (2003). Sustainable consumption: a theoretical and environmental policy perspective. *Society &Natural Resources*, 16(8), 687-701.

Stets, J. E., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. *Social psychology quarterly*, 224-237.

Tucker, W. (1982). Progress and privilege: America in the age of environmentalism. *Progress* and privilege: America in the age of environmentalism.

Thøgersen, J. (2012). The importance of timing for breaking commuters' car driving habits. In A. Warde & D. Southerton (Eds.), *The Habits of Consumption*, 12(1), 130-140

Thøgersen, J. (2014). Unsustainable consumption. European Psychologist.

Torgler, B., & Garcia-Valiñas, M. A. (2007). The determinants of individuals' attitudes towards preventing environmental damage. *Ecological economics*, 63(2-3), 536-552.

Trapp, R. (1998) 'Integrity is not just an image', Independent on Sunday, 8th March, p. 8

Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases. *science*, *185*(4157), 1124-1131.

Van der Leeden, R., Busing, F., & Meijer, E. (1997, April). *Applications of bootstrap methods for twolevel models*. Paper presented at the Multilevel Conference, Amsterdam.

Vermeir, I., & Verbeke, W. (2006). Sustainable food consumption: Exploring the consumer "attitude–behavioral intention" gap. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental ethics*, 19(2), 169-194. Verplanken, B., & Roy, D. (2016). Empowering interventions to promote sustainable lifestyles: Testing the habit discontinuity hypothesis in a field experiment. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 45, 127-134.

Verplanken, B., Walker, I., Davis, A., & Jurasek, M. (2008). Context change and travel mode choice: Combining the habit discontinuity and self-activation hypotheses. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 28(2), 121-127.

 Wade-Benzoni, K. A., Tenbrunsel, A. E., & Bazerman, M. H. (1997). Egocentric interpretations of fairness as an obstacle to just resolution of conflict. In *Research on Negotiation in Organizations: A Biannual Research Series*, Vol. 6, Roy J. Lewicki and B. H. Sheppard, eds. Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing, 189–208.

Walker, I., Thomas, G. O., & Verplanken, B. (2015). Old habits die hard: Travel habit formation and decay during an office relocation. *Environment and Behavior*, 47(10), 1089-1106.

Weber, E. U. (2010), "What Shapes Perceptions of Climate Change?" Wiley Interdisciplinary *Reviews: Climate Change*,1 (3), 332–42.

Whetten, D. A., Rands, G., & Godfrey, P. (2002). What are the responsibilities of business to society. *Handbook of strategy and management*, 373-408.

White, K., Habib, R., & Hardisty, D. J. (2019). How to SHIFT consumer behaviors to be more sustainable: A literature review and guiding framework. *Journal of Marketing*, 83(3), 22-49.

White, K., MacDonnell, R., & Dahl, D. W. (2011). It's the mind-set that matters: The role of construal level and message framing in influencing consumer efficacy and conservation behaviors. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(3), 472-485.

Whitmarsh, L. (2011). Scepticism and uncertainty about climate change: Dimensions, determinants and change over time. *Global environmental change*, 21(2), 690-700.

Wold, S., Esbensen, K., & Geladi, P. (1987). Principal component analysis. Chemometrics and intelligent laboratory systems, 2(1-3), 37-52.

The World Bank Group. (2020). *The World Bank: Who we are*. Opgehaald van worldbank.org: https://www.worldbank.org/en/who-we-are

Zaval, L., Keenan, E. A., Johnson, E. J., & Weber, E. U. (2014). How warm days increase belief in global warming. *Nature Climate Change*, *4*(2), 143-147.

Zaval, L., Markowitz E. M., & Weber, E. U., (2015), "How Will I Be Remembered? Conserving the Environment for the Sake of One's Legacy," Psychological Science, 26 (2), 231–36.

Appendix A

	Sum of Squares	df	mean squares	F	Sig.
future pay-off	121	10	12.14	22.86	0.000***
Residuals	3728	7014	0.53	0505	
Total	3849	7024	En animetra		
risk taking	66	10	6.60	12.26	0.000***
Residuals	3755	6976	0.54		0.000
Total	3821	6986	0.01		
extreme weather expected	3	72	24.10	45.01	0.000***
Residuals	6956	3724	0.54		
Total	6959	3796	0.01		
extreme weather experienced	6	33	5.55	10.24	0.000***
Residuals	7141	3869	0.54		
Total	7147	3902	0.01		
daily routine	4	3	0.85	1.56	0.000***
Residuals	6591	3588	0.54	1.00	0.000
Total	6595	3591	0.04		
awareness of others	10	18	1.75	3.21	0.000***
Reciduale	7314	3088	0.55	0.21	0.000
Total	7324	4006	0.55		
others willingness to spend money	10	5	0.47	0.86	0.571
Posiduala	7206	2072	0.55	0.00	0.071
Total	7306	3978	0.55		
teachers	6	0	3.20	5.86	0.000***
Baciduale	8238	4406	0.55	0.00	0.000
Total	8244	4505	0.55		
norante	6	0	1 59	9 77	0.012*
Paciduala	7684	4919	0.55	2.11	0.012
Total	7690	4221	0.00		
friends	6	6	0.95	1 73	0.11
Residuals	7625	4189	0.55	1.10	0.11
Total	7631	4195	0.55		
other people	6	11	1.81	3 32	0.003**
Besiduals	7601	4157	0.55	0.01	0.000
Total	7607	4168	0.00		
news	6	16	2.59	4.74	0.000***
Residuals	8343	4552	0.55	- 16	
Total	8349	4568	(handa)		
movies	6	6	1.01	1.84	0.087
Residuals	7859	4318	0.55		
Total	7865	4324		ļ	ļ
mathematical skills	10	72	7.20	13.33	0.000***
Residuals	8664	4681	0.54	- 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	- PERSONAL 2012
Total	8674	4753			
English knowledge	10	98	9.75	18.15	0.000***
Residuals	8405	4514	0.54	and a second sec	and and the first
Total	8415	4612			

Table 3: Results of a one-way ANOVA test on different mean levels of sustainable consumption among countries

Appendix B

	Dependent variable:
	sustainable consumption
future pay-off	0.146^{***}
	(0.056)
risk taking	0.055^{*}
	(0.028)
extreme weather experienced	0.035
	(0.023)
extreme weather expected	0.089**
	(0.038)
daily routine	0.039
	(0.024)
awareness of others	-0.004
	(0.026)
others willingness to spend money	-0.006
	(0.025)
teachers	-0.029
	(0.024)
parents	0.058^{**}
	(0.029)
friends	-0.027
	(0.024)
other people	-0.019
	(0.021)
news	-0.051^{*}
	(0.026)
movies	-0.023
	(0.023)
mathematics skills	0.091**
	(0.038)
English knowledge	0.031
	(0.025)
economic state	-0.050^{*}
factor	(0.026)

Table 7: Ordinal logit model coefficients on sustainableconsumption after adding a scale parameter for country

Note:	*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001
Log Likelihood	-3,953.410
Observations	3.801
	(0.151)
1—2	0.438
× •	(0.207)
0-1	-0.612
thresholds.	
	(0.338)
USA	-0.413
	(0.352)
The Netherlands	-0.572
	(0.457)
Lebanon	-1.193^{**}
	(0.403)
Bangladesh	-0.388
	(0.345)
Austria	-0.478
Australia	(0.399)
Austrolio	(0.351)
Armenia	-0.444
A	(0.344)
Antigua and Barbuda	-0.558
	(0.343)
Angola	-0.435
	(0.368)
Andorra	0.049
	0.010
scale effects:	
	(0.002)
male	-0.134
mala	0 194**
	(0.023)
age	0.007
factor	(0.048)
awareness	0.128***
	(0.055)
urban population	(0.039)
urban population	0.071*
	(0.070)
life expectancy at birth	-0.182^{***}
on education	(0.147)
government expenditure	-0.405^{***}
	(0.136)
GDP/c	0.426^{+++}
CDD/a	0 496***

Appendix C



Figure 7: boxplots showing the distribution of the positive significant independent variables for each category of sustainable consumption